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Legal aid marks 60 years of justice
2009 marks the 60th anniversary of legal aid. Legal aid was born on  
30 July 1949, when the Legal Aid and Advice Bill received Royal Assent.  
Its aim – that nobody should be ‘financially unable to prosecute a just and 
reasonable claim or defend a legal right.’

For the last 60 years legal aid has not only helped individuals, but also funded 
test cases in the courts which have helped many more people. At times it has 
improved the justice system and sometimes changed the law itself.

The Legal Services Commission is working with partners, within and outside  
the legal sector, to raise awareness of how legal aid helps disadvantaged people, 
especially during a recession. We aim to generate discussion about the role of 
legal aid in a democratic society today. We will also look to the future when we 
are confident legal aid will continue to play a vital role.

To learn more about the anniversary, visit www.legalaid60.org.uk.
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Legal aid was created at the same time as the 
National Health Service and significant post-war 
changes to education and housing.

Legal Services Commission2

Chair and Chief Executive’s review
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2009 marks the 60th anniversary of  
legal aid. In this historic year, we can 
celebrate not just one year but 60 years of 
achievement through legal aid. 

The Legal Aid and Advice Act was passed on 30 July 1949. 
Legal aid was introduced so that people could have a right 
to the help they needed without relying on charity or the 
social conscience of the legal profession. The Act was 
contemporary with the founding of the welfare state and 
the United Nations’ Declaration of Human Rights. All 
these changes focused on delivering social justice, 
recognising people’s rights and empowering marginalised 
people to enforce their rights.

The Legal Services Commission (LSC) acts as a champion 
for legal aid clients by commissioning quality services that 
meet their needs and ensure access to justice.

From a spend of less than a million pounds per year in the 
1950s, we now purchase over £2 billion of legal aid 
services a year. We must ensure that legal aid is affordable 
within the resources available. We are implementing 
changes aimed at making our legal aid system more fit for 
purpose for the 21st century. 

In 2008/09 our civil and crime providers delivered nearly 
2.9 million acts of assistance. We achieved 17 out of 20 
Key Performance Indicators, which contribute to our 
Strategic Objectives. We are particularly proud to have 
increased the number of cases of initial civil advice and 
assistance in areas like debt and housing to over  
1 million in 2008/09 – a record amount. In a year of 
economic challenges, while strengthening our focus on 
ensuring service provision in key areas such as housing 
advice in courts, we also paid our providers more quickly, 
achieving all of the above within our budget.

We would like to thank Sir Michael Bichard, who  
chaired the Commission until August 2008, for  
his leadership through the 2006 review of legal aid 
procurement and into the first stage of the legal aid 
transformation programme.

We would also like to welcome Commissioner Julian Lee 
who joined us in November 2008. The LSC has a new 
Executive Team (Hazel Parker-Brown, Phil Lambert and 
Hugh Barrett) and we have a new, more efficient, corporate 
structure that is designed to ensure we commission 
services in the best way possible to achieve our Vision. 

Finally, we continue to rely on LSC staff to deliver a 
challenging reform programme within declining resources. 
We are extremely proud that the LSC gained the Investors 
in People accreditation this year.

We look forward to the challenges ahead and to 
continuing our open and honest dialogue with our 
stakeholders. We are committed to achieving our joint 
aims to ensure that legal aid continues into the next 60 
years and beyond.

Sir Bill Callaghan 
Chair, Legal Services Commission

Carolyn Regan 
Chief Executive, Legal Services Commission

Legal Services Commission 
20 October 2009
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92% of our Community Legal Advice helpline clients 
would recommend our service.

Legal aid – fair access to justice
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The Legal Services Commission (LSC)  
is responsible for delivering, through  
high quality service providers, legal aid 
(publicly funded advice and representation)  
to people with legal problems in England  
and Wales.

Legal aid enables people to safeguard their rights and 
address their problems. Our work is therefore essential to 
the fair, effective and efficient operation of the civil and 
criminal justice systems. It is also critical in helping to 
provide access to justice and fair trials with professional 
representation.

We commission the services people need from solicitors, 
barristers and advice agencies. The skills and commitment 
of legal aid service providers are essential to helping 
people resolve their problems.

At 31 March 2009, the LSC had 1,690 members of staff 
(including all permanent and temporary payroll staff) 
based in 14 sites across England and Wales. 

We deliver legal services through two schemes: the 
Community Legal Service (CLS) and the Criminal Defence 
Service (CDS). Both schemes have eligibility criteria in 
relation to the means of the client and the nature of the 
problem, with certain limited exceptions.

The Community Legal Service
The CLS is a network of solicitors, barristers and advice 
agencies which provides and promotes civil and family legal 
advice and representation. 

The LSC manages Community Legal Advice, which includes 
telephone and internet-based services. We also contract 
with providers to deliver face-to-face civil legal aid services 
across a range of categories such as debt and housing.

The Criminal Defence Service
The CDS provides legal advice and representation to people 
being investigated or charged with a criminal offence.

The LSC manages the duty solicitor schemes for police 
stations and magistrates’ courts so that those who need 
advice and representation can see a solicitor. We also fund 
services in the higher courts. Our Public Defender Service 
provides criminal defence services directly to the public. 
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Our relationship with Government
The LSC was established under the Access to Justice Act 1999. It replaced the Legal Aid Board in April 2000. It is a non-
departmental public body sponsored by the Ministry of Justice (MoJ). The Lord Chancellor and Secretary of State for Justice 
is accountable to Parliament for our activities and performance. Our strategy, set out below, shows how our objectives link 
to those of the MoJ.

Cross-government Public Service Agreement targets to which the LSC contributes
Increase the proportion of socially excluded adults in settled accommodation and employment,  
education or training

Build more cohesive, empowered and active communities

Cross-government Public Service Agreement targets which the LSC supports
Make communities safer

Deliver a more effective, transparent and responsive criminal justice system for victims and the public.

Our strategy

MoJ 
Departmental 
Strategic 
Objectives

Strengthening 
democracy, rights 
and responsibilities

Delivering fair and 
simple routes to 
civil and family 
justice

Protecting the 
public and reducing 
re-offending

A more effective, 
transparent and 
responsive criminal 
justice system for 
victims and the 
public

Our Vision Legal aid – fair access to justice

Our Values An organisation which is clear, competent, confident and courageous

Our Strategic 
Objectives 1  Maximise access to 

quality services to 
meet the diverse 
needs of the clients 
we serve

2  Deliver a sustainable 
legal aid scheme and 
an efficient and 
diverse organisation

3  Ensure the efficient 
delivery of justice and 
wider government 
priorities
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Duty solicitor kept me calm when I 
was locked up
Sitting in a cell at Greenwich Police Station one January 
day Martin Brown* quickly learned to appreciate the role 
of duty solicitors.

The police had picked Martin up as he walked to the shops. 
He was arrested on suspicion of stealing a car, which had 
crashed on a roundabout after a high-speed chase.

He said: “I felt incredibly alone. There were a lot of 
distressing shouts and shrieks from people in neighbouring 
cells, which I found unsettling. But I’d been given the 
chance to talk to a duty solicitor on the telephone.

“I was reassured by the solicitor’s calm manner despite 
her warning that I might be transferred to Tunbridge Wells 
for questioning about robberies in Kent.”

Martin was initially stopped at 3.40pm on a flyover in 
Blackheath, south east London. A police sergeant believed 
he matched the description of the driver who had stolen 
the crashed car.

Martin said: “My arrest puzzled me because the officers 
involved in the car chase were unable to identify me after I 
was picked up. I had car keys in my pocket but these did not 
fit the crashed car. I offered to show the police my own car 
and where I lived. They rejected my offer and I was booked 
in at Greenwich Police Station shortly after 5pm.

“Later that evening the police realised they had picked up 
the wrong person. I was released before 8pm. 

“Looking back there was one big thing that kept me calm 
while I sat staring at the cell walls: that was the duty 
solicitor’s promise that she would not forget about me 
and would make check calls about my situation. I never 
met her but I’ll always be grateful.”

*  The name of the client has been changed to protect  
his identity.

About our annual report
This annual report reviews our progress during the year 
towards fulfilling our aims and objectives, as agreed 
with the MoJ and set out in our Strategic Plan 2008–11. 
Our strategic plans are published on our website at 
www.legalservices.gov.uk.

In this report, the ‘Year in focus’ chapter on page 8 
gives an overview of our key achievements and 
developments in 2008/09. ‘Our performance’ on 
page 24 shows how we performed against the Key 
Performance Indicators that contribute to our 
Strategic Objectives.

Figures given in the text, unless otherwise stated, are 
total case costs. This is intended to more closely align 
reporting across both the annual report and the 
accounts, which are on an accruals basis, and give 
more consistent comparatives over time.

We present statistical information for 2008/09 in a 
summary format. A detailed statistical analysis of our 
work, including comparisons with 2007/08, can be 
found on our website. 

You can find our financial reports on page 28.  
These explain our financial systems and processes  
and report on the more technical aspects of our 
performance. Our financial statements for 2008/09 
have been audited by the National Audit Office, and 
are at the end of this report. 

People who can least afford 
it can now access high quality 
advice 
Portsmouth Community Legal Advice centre 
manager Gail McMillan

Case study



A Relationship Manager makes on average 50 visits 
per year to contracted providers, helping them to 
deliver high quality advice to legal aid clients.

Legal Services Commission8

The year in focus
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Legal aid was introduced 60 years ago and 
remains a pillar of our modern, free and 
democratic society. Historically there have 
been concerns about the unsustainable 
growth in legal aid expenditure, particularly 
in the late 1990s. This led to the creation 
of the Legal Services Commission (LSC) 
under the Access to Justice Act 1999. 
In 2008/09, the LSC again kept within the funding 
provided by our sponsor department, despite increasing 
demand for services. The current challenging financial 
climate means the LSC needs to focus even harder on 
obtaining the best possible value for money for the 
taxpayer. With this in mind, the LSC is currently engaged 
on a transformation programme, which seeks to place 
legal aid on a sustainable footing for the future.

Following implementation of the first phase of the 
programme in 2007/08, we focussed on internal 
transformation in 2008/09 and on maximising services to 
clients. In an economic downturn, we provided additional 
funding for social welfare law and expanded duty solicitor 
schemes in housing repossession hearings. We also 
introduced improved payment arrangements for providers.

I was so grateful to the LSC for 
granting me legal aid…  
it helped me through a very 
stressful divorce 
legal aid client

Payments and acts of assistance 2008/091

1 Controlled Work and Licensed Work are defined  
on page 17.

2 The resource spend reported above excludes the 
release of £180m of provision relating to inactive  
civil cases.
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The year in focus

Highlights

We funded nearly 2.9 million 
legal aid acts of assistance 
overall

The LSC continued to help many individuals across England and Wales. During 
2008/09 we funded 7% more acts of assistance than last year across the 
Community Legal Service (CLS) and Criminal Defence Service (CDS), including 
initial ‘triage’ services provided through the Community Legal Advice telephone 
helpline. 

£2,061.8m total (net) legal aid 
expenditure 

We kept within budget on both the CLS Fund and CDS expenditure and our 
administration.

The final administration resource expenditure was £124.4m.

As at 31 March 2009 we held 
2,613 civil and 1,781 criminal 
contracts with legal service 
providers

In April 2007 we introduced the civil Unified Contract. This replaced the two 
separate contracts for not-for-profit organisations and solicitor firms. We also 
introduced the Unified Contract for crime in July 2008. Under the Unified 
Contract the LSC contracts with organisations rather than individual offices.

Contract type Number of contracts Number of offices

Civil – solicitor 2,253 3,167

Civil – not-for-profit 360 418

Total civil 2,613 3,585

Total crime 1,781 2,245

We responded rapidly to the 
economic downturn

We recognised that both legal aid clients and providers may have been impacted 
by the recent economic climate and we took steps to ensure the right services 
were available. In summary we:

Made further Legal Help acts of assistance available, particularly in debt, 
housing, employment and family services to ensure that providers helped as 
many people as possible within these resources, in addition to 64,000 
additional acts of assistance in social welfare law that we allocated following a 
civil bid round in Summer 2008

Committed to extending the telephone service’s opening times, until 8pm in the 
evenings on weekdays, and on Saturday mornings 9-12.30pm, giving more 
people the opportunity to get advice at times that are convenient to them

Expanded the Housing Possession Court Duty Scheme to cover an additional 
19 courts, ensuring coverage across 105 of 216 county courts in England and 
Wales, in addition to LSC funded schemes covering seven magistrates’ courts 
that host possession sessions

Introduced weekly payment runs for our providers from 1 January 2009

Amended our process for reconciling contracts to ensure providers have faster 
access to any contract underpayments.
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The LSC is back Online Following initial implementation difficulties, LSC Online was successfully 
relaunched to providers through a phased roll out programme that we 
completed in March 2009. 

The phased relaunch process allowed us to invest in detailed provider training 
and interactive guidance, and to support providers up to and immediately after 
starting to use the online claims system. We received positive feedback on both 
the process of submitting claims via LSC Online and the relaunch process itself.

The LSC is an accredited 
Investor in People

This year we gained corporate Investors in People accreditation. 

Investors in People is a nationally recognised standard used by organisations to 
benchmark their development policies. It is also used to improve an 
organisation’s overall performance. By gaining accreditation we demonstrate 
that we effectively manage and develop our staff and adhere to certain key 
learning and development indicators.

We also launched our Employee Charter in December 2008, which identifies the 
key values required as we move through the transformation programme so as to 
ensure the LSC remains a positive environment in which to work.

We are celebrating the 60th 

anniversary of legal aid
30 July 2009 marked 60 years since the Legal Aid and Advice Act was passed 
and legal aid was established. 

We are celebrating this milestone with our providers and stakeholders and 
looking back at the positive impact legal aid has had on many people’s lives over 
the years. We are also looking forward to the continuing contribution that legal 
aid has to make to society.

In 2008/09 we launched a dedicated website to mark 60 years of legal aid:  
www.legalaid60.org.uk.

The website charts the history of legal aid through an interactive timeline and 
explains how legal aid can help people today.

 Easy access to support – 
waiting times on calls minimal, 
and excellent service. LSC Online 
itself seems much more stable 
and easy to use. I’m impressed by 
this relaunch 
LSC provider

 I am delighted to confirm 
that the panel has endorsed my 
recommendation. The LSC truly 
deserves this and I thoroughly 
enjoyed meeting with you and 
your colleagues 
Investors in People assessor
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The year in focus

Legal aid transformation

We clarified the future  
of the legal aid schemes

We aim to achieve a legal aid system that demonstrates quality, value for 
money, sustainability of services and access to justice.

The LSC and Ministry of Justice (MoJ) initiated a major programme of reforms in 
Legal Aid Reform: The Way Ahead, published in 2006 following Lord Carter’s 
review of legal aid procurement. 

In 2008/09 we continued to implement changes to the way we contract with 
providers, including the method of paying for and procuring services. The key 
initiatives of 2008/09 are shown on the chart on pages 14 and 15.

Transforming ourselves We underwent some key changes in 2008/09. Most notably we restructured the 
organisation, moving from four directorates to three, headed by a new Executive 
Team. We made headcount reductions, however this was hand-in-hand with 
improvements and new efficiencies in our business support services.

Engaging with our 
stakeholders

Provider Reference Groups, established across England and Wales in 2008, meet 
three times a year. These meetings allow communication with our providers on 
matters such as policy implementation, current issues and planning for the 
future.

We are also committed to working with not-for-profit providers in line with the 
Compact between the Government and third sector.

In June 2008 the MoJ published its Third Sector Strategy. We contributed to the 
strategy and remain involved in its plans for continuing engagement with the 
sector, aiming to deliver better public services and improve policy through 
effective partnerships. More information is available at www.justice.gov.uk.

Implementing our strategy  
in Wales

We have been working with the Welsh Assembly Government to implement the 
strategy Making Legal Rights a Reality in Wales and are committed to ensuring a 
high quality advice service across Wales. 

We published a joint letter written with the Welsh Assembly Government on our 
website in March 2009. It provided an update on several issues, including joint 
commissioning. 

Improving value for money  
on experts

We continued to explore how the principles of our transformation programme 
could be extended to relate to our use of experts. To achieve value for money, 
we consulted (as part of our civil contracts 2010 consultation) on reducing costs 
claimed by experts on administration, travel and cancellation fees. 

We continued to develop a pilot to reform the delivery of health expert evidence. 
The pilot aims to provide jointly instructed health expert witness services to 
family courts in public law childcare proceedings. NHS Trusts and other 
organisations were encouraged to apply to take part, and the first pilot contracts 
have now been signed.
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Committed to quality We established the Quality Working Group in May 2008, with membership 
formed of stakeholders including the Law Society and the Bar Council. The 
objective was to review quality assurance processes and procedures affecting 
legal aid providers, and the group’s findings were published in December 2008.

We are also working with stakeholders to develop a Quality Assurance for 
Advocates scheme. A pilot involving criminal advocates began in February 2009. 

Supporting the next 
generation of legal  
aid lawyers

In 2008/09 we awarded 150 grants worth £3m to students, to fund their legal 
training. This represents a 50% increase in the number of grants being awarded.

First introduced in 2002, our training contract grants scheme was designed to 
attract new solicitors to the world of legal aid by contributing to training fees 
and a proportion of their initial salary with a legal aid organisation.

The scheme is the largest single funding scheme for trainee solicitors. So far  
over £15m has been invested, enough for 600 legal aid solicitors to benefit from 
a grant.

This year we also worked to increase awareness of careers in legal aid.  
Key achievements include:

Attendance at university careers events run in partnership with the Legal Aid 
Practitioners Group

Targeted university events for black and ethnic minority students

Information sent to all university careers departments on careers in legal aid

Information promoting the scheme sent to all Legal Practice Course providers 
in order for them to pass it on to their students.

We also introduced a training contract grants scheme for family mediators. We 
made £0.1m available to support trainee mediators, emphasising our commitment 
to increasing the number of family disputes resolved by mediation. 

We continued to sponsor the ‘Young Solicitor’ category at the Legal Aid Lawyer 
of the Year awards.

More information on all of these issues can be found on our website: www.legalservices.gov.uk.
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The year in focus

2008

Key developments 2008/09

May

The route map for civil legal aid 
milestones up to 2011 published

July

Unified Contract for crime 
implemented

Increases to solicitors’ fee schemes 
resulting from Unified Contract 
agreement came into force

Civil tenders announced for 
additional acts of assistance worth 
£13m 

Response to the consultation on 
best value tendering in criminal 
legal aid published

Outline route map for future 
possible criminal legal aid reforms 
published

New Vision and three directorate 
structure for the LSC developed

Workshops with partners and 
providers on the application of the 
Interests of Justice test took place 

September

LSC head office relocated

April

Agreement with the Law Society 
on Unified Contract and 
commitment to working in 
partnership

Derby, Leicester and Portsmouth 
Community Legal Advice centres 
opened for business

Criminal Defence Service Direct 
went national, providing non-
means tested advice via telephone 
helpline in police stations

June

Consultation on amendments to 
Family Graduated Fee Scheme 
launched

Working group of main 
representative bodies, the LSC and 
MoJ set up to consider new 
scheme for Very High Cost Cases 
(crime)

August

First wave of providers rejoined the 
LSC Online system

LSC Update e-newsletter for 
solicitors and legal advisers 
relaunched to include news for 
advocates 

LSC Single Equality Scheme 
published
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2009

November

17 additional Housing Possession 
Court Duty Schemes started, 
covering 19 county courts 

Joint consultation with the MoJ on 
introducing means testing in 
Crown Courts launched

Aspire programme launched, 
providing mentoring for young 
people

Report on outcomes of contract 
compliance audit review published

October

Consultation on bid rounds for 
2010 civil contracts launched

Hull Community Legal Advice 
centre opened

Consultation on contracts for 
operating pilot virtual courts from 
police stations launched

December

Response to the consultation on 
delivery transformation published, 
setting out plans for electronic and 
other new ways of working

Consultation on next phase of 
family law fees launched

Consultation on new Very High Cost 
Cases (crime) scheme launched

First meeting of Client Diversity 
Group held

Review of peer review and other 
quality assurance procedures 
published

Reconciliation margin reduced to 
5% giving providers faster access to 
outstanding payments

February

Quality Assurance for Advocates 
pilot launched

Decision on Family Graduated Fees 
Scheme published

Consultation on controlling costs 
of prison law advice launched

First year review of Litigators’ 
Graduated Fee Scheme began

January

Tender for family advice on the 
CLA telephone helpline launched, 
following a successful pilot

Focus newsletter for providers 
relaunched as a digital magazine 

Focus group held aimed at 
improving access to legal aid 
services for victims of domestic 
abuse

Three directorate structure with 
new Executive Directors and Senior 
Management Team established

Weekly payments for providers 
began

March

Second consultation on 2010 
crime contracts and best value 
tendering launched

Decision made to extend current 
Very High Cost Cases (crime) Panel 
following consultation

Investors in People accreditation 
awarded to the LSC 

Virtual court contract 
amendments issued

Relaunch of providers on LSC 
Online successfully completed

Significant reduction in processing 
times for legal aid applications and 
bills achieved, which resulted in 
additional payments to legal aid 
providers of £41m
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Some of the bravest people you could meet visited our 
head office at Abbey Orchard Street, London in October 
2008 to say thank you to the LSC.

The Nepalese Gurkhas expressed their gratitude for funding 
their immigration battle in the High Court, which was to 
pave the way to them being granted the right to settle in 
the UK.

There were six lead claimants in the High Court challenge 
to the Government’s discretionary policy towards Gurkha 
immigration to the UK. The High Court ruled that the 
existing policy was not sufficiently clear.

Actress and campaigner Joanna Lumley said: “This is the 
welcome we have always longed to give.”

Gurkhas win right to settle in UK

The year in focus

Case study
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Community Legal Service (CLS)
The CLS provides civil legal help and representation via Community Legal Advice (CLA) as well as through solicitors and 
not-for-profit agencies, such as Citizens Advice Bureaux and Law Centres. The LSC awards contracts to providers which 
are split by category of civil law, allowing us to allocate funding to the areas where clients need it most.

For initial advice and assistance, members of the public often use CLA. Where face-to-face advice, assistance or 
representation in proceedings is needed, services are delivered in two ways:

Controlled Work Licensed Work

Covers basic levels of advice and representation

Providers assist clients directly, with no need to apply 
to the LSC for each case

Also referred to as Legal Help or Family Help Lower

Encompasses Help at Court and representation in front 
of Mental Health Review Tribunals and the Asylum and 
Immigration Tribunal

An act of assistance is each instance in which a 
provider gives legal help to a client, not including 
representation in court. 

Accounts for all other types of civil work, with the 
exception of Very High Cost Cases, which are managed 
under specialist contracts

Funding applications need to be submitted to the LSC 
for each case. The LSC decides whether funding criteria 
and the merits test are met. Limits in relation to the 
work are then set, which may be varied on application 
by the client.

We are ensuring access to 
justice

Our core purpose remains to provide access to quality legal services for clients, 
from initial advice to representation in court. 

It has been a difficult year in terms of managing a finite budget within a 
challenging economic climate. However, we have worked hard to ensure that a 
continued service is available to those who need it the most.

We spent £887.1m on funding 
civil legal providers

This represents an increase of 12% in total funding compared with 2007/08, 
reflecting an increase in the work done. 

Not-for-profit organisations continue to be major providers of civil Legal  
Help, accounting for 32% of all Legal Help work claimed in 2008/09, and  
67% of our provision in social welfare law. 2008/09 was the first full year in 
which these organisations claimed according to the same rules as solicitors,  
to a total resource value of £76m.

I don’t know where I would be without them 
widow praising Leicester CLAC in local newspaper after they helped save her from eviction
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The year in focus

We funded over 1 million Legal 
Help acts of assistance

We set a target to deliver 1 million Legal Help acts of assistance via face-to-face 
and telephone advice during 2008/09. We met this target with a total of 1.07 
million acts of assistance being delivered.

We also provided an additional 94,983 demand-led immigration acts of 
assistance, and issued 145,286 certificates for Licensed Work.

1 From 2008/09 the acts of assistance measurement was changed to include 
‘triage’ provided by the CLA operator service.

Methods of delivering services

Community Legal Advice

CLA offers free, confidential 
and independent civil legal 
advice and assistance

Anyone can contact CLA to be pointed in the right direction for further 
assistance and individuals eligible for legal aid can get specialist advice and 
assistance. CLA services include:

A telephone helpline, providing initial advice and, where necessary, assistance 
in finding further help. Those seeking advice can call 0845 345 4 345

A ‘call me back’ service, so individuals can request that a telephone adviser call 
them back at a specified time by completing their details on the website 
(which includes the ability to request a call back in a language other then 
English) or texting “legalaid” to 80010

The CLA website, found at www.communitylegaladvice.org.uk, which 
includes free legal information leaflets and factsheets, a legal aid calculator to 
determine eligibility for legal aid and a directory of advisers and solicitors 
possessing the CLS Quality Mark

Digital interactive television, where CLA can be accessed via remote control for 
those with limited access to the internet

Community Legal Advice centres and networks, providing advisory and 
representation services for a broad range of issues

Leaflets on individual categories of law, which are available at a wide variety of 
locations across England and Wales.
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CLA provided 336,798 acts of 
assistance

Specialist telephone advisers handled 100,851 cases across a range of legal 
categories during 2008/09, an increase of 19% on 2007/08. In addition,  
235,947 enquiries were closed by the operator service by either  
resolving the issue to the clients’ satisfaction or referring to a non-LSC  
funded source (known as triage).

There were over 2 million 
visits to the CLA website

387,826 leaflets were downloaded, an increase of 55% compared with 2007/08 
and over 16 million individual pages were viewed, an increase of 53% since last 
year. In addition, approximately 2 million leaflets and marketing materials were 
distributed to organisations and members of the public, covering topics such as 
debt and divorce.

Reaching diverse clients The CLA helpline continues to reach diverse clients, offering three-way 
translation services in 170 languages. Typetalk and Minicom are also available for 
deaf and hard-of-hearing clients. British Sign Language users can now obtain 
assistance via the specialist pages of the CLA website, where services such as 
information videos and advice via webcam are available. 20% of our clients 
assess themselves as of a minority ethnic origin and 20% as having a disability.
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Face-to-face services

2,613 CLS contracts held for 
Controlled Work

There was a decrease of 121 civil contracts held by providers as at 31 March 2009 
compared with the previous year, which follows the trend of previous years 
through the consolidation of services. Not-for-profit agencies held 360 of these 
contracts, a decrease of 12.

10% increase in acts of 
assistance for Controlled 
Work 

The total number of all types of acts of assistance under Controlled Work 
contracts increased by 10% this year. This was due in part to an increase in 
demand and our response to the effects of the economic downturn.

6% increase in the number of 
Licensed Work applications

Providers that have been granted contracts for Controlled Work are allowed to make 
applications to do Licensed Work. These applications increased by 6% during the 
year and resulted in a 5% increase in the number of Licensed Work certificates 
granted. Much of this increase occurred during the last quarter of the year.

14% increase in the volume of 
Controlled Work matters 
completed

Along with the increase in acts of assistance, a corresponding increase in the 
volume of completed work was also observed for Controlled Work.

However, for Licensed Work there was a small decrease in closed cases in line 
with the trend from previous years. This does not match the increase in 
applications due to the longer case length associated with this type of work.

Licensed Work average case 
costs continued to increase

Average Licensed Work case costs increased by 4% for both family work and 
non-family work funded by the LSC. In non-family work where the costs were 
met by the opponents, there was a decrease of 8% in average cost.

80% of cases resulted in a 
substantive benefit for the 
client

This year saw a small increase of 2% in the overall success rate of Controlled and 
Licensed Work. However there was a large increase in non-family/immigration 
Licensed Work of 8%, with some categories such as mental health (10%) and 
clinical negligence (43%) showing even larger increases compared to last year.

The year in focus

Our lawyer helped us overcome a very emotional time for me and 
my family. She fought our battle until it had been successful 
client praising Young Legal Aid Solicitor of the Year Jo Hickman



One of the longest miscarriages of justice in the UK ended 
in 2009 when Sean Hodgson, 57, walked free from the 
Court of Appeal.

Legal aid, coupled with the efforts of his tenacious solicitor 
Julian Young, helped Sean to secure his freedom.

Sean was sentenced to life imprisonment in 1982 for the 
murder in Southampton three years before of Teresa De 
Simone, 22, a clerical worker and part-time barmaid.

Sean originally confessed to the killing, but he retracted his 
confession at the start of his trial. His defence argued that 
he was suffering from a disorder which made him a 
pathological liar, but the jury unanimously convicted Sean 
after just three hours and 15 minutes of deliberation. 

Decades later DNA tests proved that the crime could not 
have been committed by Sean.

The Court of Appeal quashed Sean’s conviction in March 
2009, calling it “unsafe”. Hampshire police then reopened 
their investigation and matched the DNA evidence to 
another man.

Hugh Barrett, Executive Director for Commissioning, and 
Sue Davison, CDS Administrator in our London regional 
office, met with Sean as he thanked the LSC for providing 
him with access to justice. Sue received special praise from 
Julian Young for ensuring a quick turnaround of requests for 
funding the work the solicitors put into the appeal. 

Hugh said: “In our 60th year, this is yet another powerful 
example of legal aid’s ability to provide access to justice for 
those who need it most.”

Wrongly convicted man freed after 27 years
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The year in focus

Criminal Defence Service (CDS)
Forming part of the wider Criminal Justice System, the CDS ensures access to advice, assistance and representation for 
all eligible individuals suspected or accused of a crime.

Access to services and funding We ensure provision of a full range of criminal defence services, from police 
station advice and assistance to defending clients in court if charged.

The overall CDS spend of £1,174.8m enabled us to provide nearly 1.6 million acts 
of assistance.

Advice or 
representation Types of service1 Numbers

Total 
claimed 
(£000)

Police station: 
suspects not yet 
charged

Free standing advice and 
assistance

10,357 1,434

Police station advice and 
assistance

860,736 191,026

Lower courts: 
defendants who 
have been charged

Court duty solicitor sessions 88,424 22,820

Representation orders 500,554 242,584

Advice, assistance and advocacy 
where no representation order 
granted

59,918 25,812

Higher courts: 
defendants who 
have been charged

Very High Cost Criminal Case 
contracts let

397 112,094

Representation orders 124,439 587,353

1 File reviews and second claims for deferred sentencing are not included as 
these do not represent actual acts of assistance.

2 The total claimed value includes income due to the recovery of defence 
cost orders.

CDS Direct – access to advice 
and value for money

CDS Direct provides members of the public detained by the police on suspicion 
of less serious criminal offences with direct access to telephone advice, which 
can reduce their time in custody.

The service now covers own client work as well as duty work. Clients may change 
to their own solicitor at a later stage if their case goes to court.

CDS Direct received 134,141 requests to provide telephone advice in 2008/09.  
In terms of response times, over 98% of calls back to police stations were made 
within 15 minutes and 99.7% within 30 minutes. The overall average time to 
make a call following a request was 2 minutes and 51 seconds.

100% coverage of the 24-hour 
duty solicitor schemes

As with 2007/08, the CDS maintained total coverage of the duty solicitor 
schemes at police stations across England and Wales.
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Access to justice – from police 
stations to higher courts

In cooperation with other organisations in the justice system, we are responsible 
for assessing the financial eligibility of all legal aid applicants in the magistrates’ 
courts and for assessing and paying all claims for legal aid work in the Crown 
Court and other higher courts. We also work closely with defence teams in 
managing individual case contracts for Very High Cost Cases. 

We introduced the crime Unified Contract on 14 July 2008, with 1,799 contracts 
issued. At 31 March 2009, the number of active contracts was 1,781.

Under these contracts we funded 1.4 million acts of assistance at police stations 
and magistrates’ courts and 124,439 at the higher courts.

The Public Defender Service 
(PDS) opened 3,679 files in 
2008/09

Established in 2001, the PDS was the first salaried criminal legal aid provider in 
England and Wales. 

There are now four PDS offices: Cheltenham, Darlington, Pontypridd and 
Swansea. PDS lawyers are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week to provide 
independent advice, assistance and representation on criminal matters.

The LSC directly employs PDS lawyers, but they must adhere to the PDS Code of 

Conduct to ensure independence.

A more detailed statistical analysis of our work can be found on our website: www.legalservices.gov.uk.



LSC receives 25,000 phone calls a week, from 
contracted providers as well as legal aid clients.
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Our performance
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A matter of life and death
Cancer patient Colin Ross won a battle in the High 
Court for lifesaving drug treatment that could give 
him an extra three years of life.

Colin Ross, 55, received legal aid to challenge a 
decision by West Sussex Primary Care Trust (PCT) to 
refuse funding for him to obtain the drug Revlimid.

The High Court heard he would have had two 
months to live without the drug. In his ruling, Judge 
Simon Grenfell said the PCT’s decision was “one 
which no reasonable authority could have made on 
the application before it”.

The LSC’s Liverpool office granted the legal aid 
certificate for Mr Ross, and Louise Ford of the LSC’s 
Brighton Special Cases Unit managed the case. The 
solicitor for Mr Ross was Yogi Amin of Irwin Mitchell.

Mr Ross was too ill to attend court but he was clear 
about the significance of legal aid to his cause: “There 
were several areas of support I received throughout, 
but it was legal aid in particular that allowed me to 
go all the way – as far as was necessary – in order to 
obtain a drug that I felt I had every right to access.”

Colin’s partner Wendy Forbes-Newbegin, herself 
fighting breast cancer, added: “We would have been 
lost without legal aid.”

The judge issued an emergency order at the end of 
the hearing to allow Mr Ross to get immediate 
treatment. 

Each year we set a series of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs). These are 
designed to help us work towards meeting 
our Strategic Objectives and ensure that 
we maintain fair access to justice.
Whilst the KPIs vary from year to year, there are some 
which remain constant, such as monitoring the access to 
services that we provide, and ensuring a sustainable legal 
aid scheme through targets on our finances.

The ‘balanced scorecard’ on pages 26 and 27 shows how 
we performed against our KPIs as follows:

 Achieved

 Partially achieved

  Not achieved – where this is used, we have included 
a footnote to explain our performance in more detail.

This year, we achieved 17 KPIs, partially achieved 1 and 
missed 2.

LSC staff are flexible and 
provide a fast turnaround 
praise from award-winning lawyer Yogi Amin who 
brought legally-aided cases to win patients’ funding 
for life-saving cancer drugs

Case study
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Finance
Strategic Objective KPI headline KPI Status

Deliver a sustainable 
legal aid scheme 
and an efficient and 
diverse organisation

Financial control Live within our agreed administration budget for 2008/09 

Live within fund budget for 2008/09

Reduce the amount of outstanding debit notes as at 31 March 
2008 by £30m including a recovery target of £16m

Reconciliation – maintain 98% of contracts within 90-110%

Customers
Strategic Objective KPI headline KPI Status

Maximise access to 
quality services to 
meet the diverse 
needs of the clients 
we serve

Access to services i. 95% police station duty calls accepted within 30 minutes 
ii. 100% coverage of court duty solicitors

1,000,000 acts of assistance:
700,000 face-to-face
200,000 Community Legal Advice triage
100,000 Community Legal Service specialists

Increase Legal Help spend by £5m

i.  Maintain at least 99% of eligible population being within 
45 minutes on public transport of a family provider 

ii. Maintain at least 95% of the eligible population being 
within 45 minutes on public transport of a social welfare 
law provider

iii. Increase by 2% eligible population being within 45 minutes 
on public transport of a social welfare law provider for 3 
core categories (housing, debt and welfare benefits)

 1

Quality services i. Increase from 36% to 56% the number of crime providers 
with a valid peer review rating

ii. Maintain civil peer review panel membership at current 
levels, delivering 328 reviews

80% of all providers with a risk rating will receive a positive 
intervention

Developing services 
to meet diverse 
client needs

Client and public engagement strategy agreed by October 
2008, including a system for measurement

Deliver a sustainable 
legal aid scheme 
and an efficient and 
diverse organisation

Internal 
transformation

Maintain national customer service score at 90%

Our performance

1 The LSC did not achieve this KPI as set. However, we did run an interim bid round for new contracts in Summer 2008 
that resulted in an increase in the number of access points for civil help. We now have improved data from which to 
benchmark journey times on public transport and will continue to focus on improving access in 2009/10.
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People and processes
Strategic Objective KPI headline KPI Status

Deliver a sustainable 
legal aid scheme 
and an efficient and 
diverse organisation

Scheme 
transformation

Delivery of civil and crime elements of the transformation 
programme on time, on cost and delivering anticipated benefits

Process 
transformation

Relaunch a fully functioning version of LSC Online to the entire 
external provider base by close of the 2008/09 financial year

Internal 
transformation

90% score on revised people scorecard
 2

Innovation
Strategic Objective KPI headline KPI Status

Ensure the efficient 
delivery of justice 
and wider 
government 
priorities

Whole system 
initiatives

Full membership and 95% attendance at Local Criminal Justice 
Boards; full membership of Local Family Justice Councils; scope 
formal feedback mechanism for providers via LSC website by 
30 September 2008; implement by 31 December 2008; agree 
with Office for Criminal Justice Reform whether defence costs 
should be included in Waterfall model3; develop a better 
understanding of the services currently delivered and ensure 
we keep stakeholders informed of developments.

Corporate social 
responsibility

Better Regulation Executive’s £15m net reduction in 
administration burden on providers by the LSC by April 2009

Abbey Orchard Street move – full business as usual achieved 
by September 2008

i. Achieve a 10% reduction in paper consumption
ii. Achieve a 5% reduction in electricity consumption
iii. Achieve a 5% reduction in travel costs
iv. Achieve 50% of waste recycled

 4

Social/community engagement – launch Aspire programme  5

2 The people scorecard is comprised of six key elements: sickness absence, headcount, performance and development 
review quality, impact of learning, engagement (such as positive response levels to the staff survey) and diversity. 
Each element comprises one or more separate targets. We scored an average of 70% on our people scorecard over 
the year. The LSC attaches a great importance to its staff and their development, as recognised when we received 
Investors in People accreditation in March 2009.

3 The Waterfall model highlights the costs of different activities across the justice system and where pressures exist.
4 In early Spring 2009 we achieved the international environmental standard ISO 14001 certification for three of  

our offices: Bristol, Manchester and our head office in London. We will continue to improve our environmental 
credentials in 2009/10.

5 The Aspire programme provides mentoring for young people from disadvantaged backgrounds. In its first year, 
2008/09, the LSC trained 13 staff who volunteered to mentor students from four London schools. Aspire helps 
students achieve their potential while giving staff the opportunity to work with young people.
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Introduction 
The Legal Services Commission (LSC) is a non-
departmental public body established under the Access to 
Justice Act 1999 and sponsored by the Ministry of Justice 
(MoJ). We are responsible for the provision of legal aid in 
England and Wales, through the Community Legal Service 
(CLS) and the Criminal Defence Service (CDS). 

A description of the LSC’s main role, activities and 
development of key initiatives is set out in earlier chapters 
of our Annual Report and Accounts 2008/09. 

This year, we achieved 17 Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs), partially achieved 1 and missed 2. You can find 
more detailed information in the ‘Our performance’ 
chapter at page 24.

Senior directors
Executive Team

The LSC Executive Team is made up of:

Carolyn Regan, Chief Executive 

Hugh Barrett, Executive Director for Commissioning

Phil Lambert, Executive Director for Business Support

Hazel Parker-Brown, Executive Director for Corporate 
Services.

Hugh Barrett and Phil Lambert joined the LSC on  
1 December 2008 and Hazel Parker-Brown joined  
on 3 December. In 2008/09, there were other members 
of the Executive Team including:

Rod Clark, Interim Executive Director for Policy  
(19 May 2008 to 7 August 2008) 

Richard Collins OBE, Executive Director for Policy  
(until 30 September 2008)

David Godfrey, Executive Director for Corporate 
Services (until 5 December 2008)

Mike Jeacock, Executive Director for Service Delivery 
(until 30 April 2008)

Crispin Passmore, Acting Executive Director for Policy 
(18 August 2008 to 31 December 2008)

Helen Riley, Executive Director for Transformation  
(until 31 December 2008)

Gary Robertson, Interim Executive Director for Service 
Delivery (6 May 2008 to 19 December 2008).

Non-executive Commissioners

Our non-executive Commissioners are:

Sir Bill Callaghan, Chair 

Angus Andrew

Barry Elliott

Tina Fahm

Carolyn Hamilton

Jane Hickman

Tom Jones OBE

Lionel Joyce OBE

Julian Lee (from 1 November 2008)

Beryl Seaman CBE JP

Peter Smith

Dr David Wolfe.

Sir Michael Bichard was the Commission Chair until 31 
August 2008. David Edmonds CBE was a Commissioner 
until 30 June 2008.

You can find more information on our Executive Team 
and non-executive Commissioners, including their 
registers of interests, at www.legalservices.gov.uk. 

Management commentary
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Audit Committee
The LSC’s Audit Committee ensures that we adhere to the 
highest standards of propriety in the use and stewardship 
of public funds and encourages proper accountability for 
the use of those funds. The Committee also promotes the 
development of internal control systems which help 
satisfy the Commission that the organisation will achieve 
its objectives and targets. During 2008/09 membership 
of the LSC’s Audit Committee comprised:

David Edmonds CBE (Chair until June 2008)
Barry Elliott (Chair from July 2008)
Tina Fahm
Tom Jones OBE.

Parliamentary scrutiny
The LSC’s restructuring plans and the impact of it on the 
legal aid service in Wales were raised in Parliament by Julie 
Morgan MP in an adjournment debate in Westminster Hall 
on 21 January 2009. Following the debate, the Welsh 
Affairs Committee agreed to undertake an inquiry 
examining the decision by the LSC to reduce its operations 
in Cardiff. On 24 March 2009 the LSC’s Chief Executive, 
Executive Director for Business Support and Wales Director 
gave evidence to a hearing of the Welsh Affairs Committee. 
The Legal Aid Minister also attended.

The Committee was undertaking an inquiry into the LSC’s 
restructuring plans. The LSC aimed to centralise operational 
support and administrative work in five business centres by 
2012. The proposed changes included transferring business 
support for civil legal aid work out of Wales.

The LSC recognises the Welsh devolution arrangement 
and is fully committed to ensuring that legal aid provision 
in Wales continues to develop and that tailored services 
for Welsh clients continue to be maintained and 
improved. As such, we will ensure there is an effective LSC 
representation in Wales. We welcome the independent 
scrutiny of Parliament and will carefully consider the 
Committee’s recommendations during 2009/10.

The environment, social and  
community issues
We are committed to reducing our impact on the 
environment and to operating in accordance with best 
environmental practices. We published an updated 
environmental policy on the LSC website in January 2009. 

It outlines our key objectives and principles in improving 
our environmental performance and meeting or 
exceeding relevant legislation and requirements.

In March 2009 we achieved ISO 14001 certification for 
our London Head Office, Bristol and Manchester sites. 
ISO 14001 is the most recognised international standard 
for Environmental Management Systems. Our actions are 
consistent with the Government Sustainable 
Development Strategy. The LSC is committed to 
minimising waste, using energy efficiently and promoting 
good environmental practice amongst staff.

Performance against our Corporate Social Responsibility 
KPIs can be found in the ‘Our performance’ chapter. 

Employee involvement
Managers hold regular section and team meetings to 
communicate the LSC’s objectives to all staff, where 
everyone can ask questions and give their views about 
organisational issues. These meetings include discussion of 
the Core Brief, a short monthly summary of our main 
corporate news. 

As the organisation undergoes a significant period of 
transformation, the Chief Executive, Executive Team and 
the Senior Management Team have kept staff updated via 
face-to-face briefings, intranet discussion forums and a 
monthly update from the Chief Executive. We have 
conducted a regular staff survey which includes questions 
about communication, change and leadership, and we use 
the results to improve how we communicate with staff. 

The LSC formally communicates with its staff on issues 
and changes to the terms and conditions of employment 
through the Joint Consultative and Negotiating 
Committee. The Committee is made up of representatives 
of management, employees and elected members of the 
GMB (Britain’s General Union) and the First Division 
Association, the two unions recognised by the LSC to 
represent staff who are members of the respective unions. 

In March 2009, the LSC was awarded the Investors in 
People national standard. More information can be found 
in the ‘Year in focus’ chapter at page 8.

Equal opportunities and diversity 
The LSC is committed to equality of opportunity both as 
an employer and in the provision of services. The LSC is 
committed to the principle that no job applicant or 
employee shall face discrimination. We do not 
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Management commentary (continued)

discriminate in the promotion, training and development 
of staff. We value the variety of backgrounds, 
perspectives, values and beliefs that diversity brings and 
aim to be an organisation where everyone has an equal 
right to dignity and respect. 

Our employee assistance programme supports  
employees who have become disabled to continue  
their employment. 

The LSC does not tolerate any practices that result in the 
provision of a lower standard of service to any group or 
individual because of unfair or unlawful discrimination. 
Our Single Equality Scheme, which encompasses equality 
and diversity, gender and disability, together with our 
Equalities Annual Report can be found at www.
legalservices.gov.uk.

Sickness absence data 
As part of our people scorecard KPI, we had a target for 
annual sickness absence per full time equivalents to be no 
more than 7 days. Our performance against this target 
was 7.98 days. 

Research and development
Strategic research in the civil and criminal justice fields is 
conducted by the Legal Services Research Centre (LSRC), 
the strategic research division of the LSC. This research 
helps us to formulate our policies. More information 
about the work of LSRC can be found at www.lsrc.org.uk.

Charitable donations
During 2008/09, the LSC did not make any charitable 
donations. 

Financial review 2008/09 
Details of payments on the CLS Fund and CDS as well as 
our administration can be found in the ‘Year in focus’ 
chapter at page 8. 

Core costs
In 2008/09, our total administration resource expenditure 
was £124.4m. This included a number of change-related 
costs, including our head office relocation, redundancies, 
new IT systems and project-related short-term staffing. 
This investment in change will deliver benefits in 2009/10 

and beyond, as part of the implementation of our reform 
programme. The reform programme has been designed to 
ensure that we can live within our agreed reduced future 
year budgets, whilst continuing to manage legal aid 
effectively and providing a quality service to providers and 
clients.

Permanent and temporary staff numbers have been 
reducing since September 2008, as our reform 
programme gains momentum, and the relaunched LSC 
Online has successfully reduced the need for manual 
handling of providers’ claims. This is enabling us to make 
progress towards our target of reducing administrative 
costs by 30% over the period to 2012.

Pension fund
An advance payment of £6m was made in March 2009 
with the agreement of the MoJ. This will help towards 
meeting future liabilities. Details of the pension scheme’s 
assets, liabilities and contributions are set out in note 3 of 
the LSC financial statements. The LSC is reviewing its 
future pension arrangements in the context of its total 
reward strategy, which will reflect market competitiveness 
and affordability and which is due to be implemented, 
subject to consultation, in 2010/11.

Grant and loan making powers
Under section 6 (3)(c) of the Access to Justice Act 1999, the 
LSC may fund services as part of the CLS by making grants 
or loans to persons or bodies to enable them to provide or 
facilitate the provision of services. During the year, we made 
grants in accordance with the Secretary of State’s specific 
direction. This expenditure is reported in note 3 of the CLS 
Fund and CDS accounts; Direct Services, grants and similar.

Payment of suppliers and 
performance
A bill from a legal aid provider is only eligible for payment 
once it has been assessed. The LSC needs to assess bills 
submitted by providers and resolve any queries before the 
bill can be agreed for payment. We currently commit to pay 
bills within 30 days of the assessment being completed. In 
fact, we pay the majority sooner than this. We make 
payments on account, which effectively means we are 
paying in advance for much of the work covered by the bills. 
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The LSC started making more frequent payments to our 
providers in January 2009 and also changed its systems 
to make the VAT changes. Performance against internal 
targets for the timely payment of bills is set out in the 
table below.

The LSC aims to collect receipts and promptly pay all 
properly authorised invoices from the administration 
budget in accordance with the terms of contracts or 
within 30 days. We paid 98% of properly authorised 
administrative invoices within 30 days during 2008/09. 
We will continue to monitor payment performance on a 
monthly basis during 2009/10. The payment performance 
figures are unaudited. 

Post balance sheet events
There are no post balance sheet events reported in 2008/09. 

Going concern
The going concern basis is set out in note 1m) and note 16 of 
the CLS Fund and CDS financial statements and in note 1m) 
and note 17 of the LSC administration financial statements. 

Contractual arrangements 
The LSC has contractual arrangements with legal aid 
service providers. Information about the number of 
contracts with service providers can be found in the 
Statistical Information 2008/09 document that 
accompanies our annual report on the LSC website.

Reporting of personal data  
related incidents 
In 2008/09 there were no personal data related incidents 
formally reported to the Information Commissioner’s 
Office. 31 incidents were recorded centrally but did not 
fall into the criteria for reporting to the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (see Table A). Small, localised 
incidents are not recorded centrally and are not cited in 
these figures.

Table A: Summary of other protected personal data related incidents in 2008/09 

Category Nature of incident Total

I Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or paper documents from 
secured Government premises

2

II Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or paper documents from 
outside secured Government premises

5

III Insecure disposal of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or paper documents 1

IV Unauthorised disclosure 16

V Other 7

Bills paid Targets 2008/09
Performance 

2008/09 Targets 2007/08
Performance 

2007/081

Civil bills – taxed & assessed 8 weeks (100%) 94% 8 weeks (100%)  91%

Family Graduated Fee bills 8 weeks (100%) 95% 8 weeks (100%)  95%

Criminal non-standard fee 8 weeks (100%) 99% 8 weeks (100%)  99%

1  These 2007/08 performance figures reflect the accurate position based on the latest information and replace the 
figures published on page 51 of the LSC Annual Report and Accounts 2007/08. These figures are not subject to audit.
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Principal risks
The areas of activity that we consider to be high  
risk include:

Funding allocation may be insufficient to deliver  
our programme of work

Delivery of the transformation programme 

Delivery of high quality legal services to meet  
clients’ needs.

We continuously monitor these risks and our policy for 
managing risk is set out in our Risk Management Statement, 
which is available at www.legalservices.gov.uk.  
Our 2008/09 ‘Statement on internal control’ is on page 42. 

The risks relating to financial instruments are disclosed in 
note 21 of the CLS Fund and CDS financial statement and 
note 23 of the LSC administration financial statements.

Forward look
Our Strategic Plan 2009-12 sets out our high-level 
strategy. The plan is specific about our objectives and the 
key actions we aim to take to achieve them. It can be 
found at www.legalservices.gov.uk. 

The key areas of work for the coming year are:

Family legal aid funding 2010 – A consultation was 
published in December 2008 to address our concerns 
over the future sustainability of legal aid, given the 
significant increase in family legal aid average case 
costs. The proposals also align with our move towards 
standard fees.

Civil contracts 2010 – We launched a consultation on 
this in October 2008. Key objectives of this work are to 
ensure that new contracts are awarded through an 
open and transparent process, that complies with EU 
procurement law and to continue to work towards 
easier access to face-to-face advice for clients in 
accordance with the CLS strategy and family strategy.

CDS contracts 2010 including best value tendering 
– The current Unified Contract (Crime) will (following 
extension) expire in July 2010. This consultation, 
launched in March 2009, covers proposals for the 
procurement of new contracts including through best 
value tendering in two specified areas of procurement. 
The response to this consultation was published in  
July 2009.

Crown Court means testing – Means testing is 
already in place in the magistrates’ courts and the LSC 
and MoJ consulted on extending this to the Crown 
Court. Means testing underpins the Government’s 
commitment to the principle that those that can afford 
to pay for their defence should do so. It also ensures 
that best use is made of taxpayers money and that 
limited resources can be used to help those most in 
need. Those who cannot afford to pay for their defence 
should still receive public funding. The response to this 
consultation was published in June 2009.

Delivery transformation – This project aims to 
reduce the cost of administering the legal aid scheme 
significantly and to increase the operational efficiency 
of the LSC. Providers would benefit from faster 
turnaround times for claims processing as well as 
additional devolved powers. The clients, in turn, would 
benefit from faster decisions as providers exercise more 
devolved powers. A key element in achieving this will be 
through the delivery of streamlined, electronic 
processes fit for the future, including simpler and more 
devolved processes, reduced bureaucracy, increased 
automation and reduced paperwork. 

IT sourcing – The LSC’s contract with the IT provider 
Steria ends in December 2009. All LSC desktops and 
servers will need to be replaced, and staff will require 
training by March 2010. This is a key priority as the 
contract will not be extended. Most of the equipment 
and software are old, difficult to support and will soon 
become increasingly unreliable. This will significantly 
drive up support costs and reduce overall LSC 
productivity. In addition to modernising the LSC 
operating infrastructure, replacing the systems will also 
enable the LSC to better comply with information 
security assurance guidelines. 

e-forms – In order to bring forward operational 
efficiencies ahead of delivery transformation, one area 
identified was the early adoption of electronic form 
submission and a full review of our current forms 
content and design. This would enable electronic 
transactions between the LSC and legal aid service 
providers.

Business support transition – As part of the legal aid 
reform programme, we are simplifying and automating 
our internal processes and embracing e-business. Our 
vision is a faster service for our clients and our 
providers, delivered by reduced numbers of LSC staff 
from fewer locations. In 2009/10 we will remove 
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operational processing work from our Brighton and 
Cambridge sites whilst reducing processing activity in 
our London regional office. This will facilitate 
efficiencies and headcount savings within our corporate 
services, as the requirement will be to service and 
support a leaner organisation with fewer staff and fewer 
sites. At the same time we are revising our approach to 
managing providers, which will allow us to realise 
efficiencies and savings. Our providers too will be able 
to unlock operational benefits and savings as they join 
us on a journey of reform for legal aid processing.

Accounting standards
Under the paragraph 16 (1) of Schedule 1 to the Access to 
Justice Act 1999, the Secretary of State for Justice has 
directed the LSC to prepare, for each financial year, 
resource accounts for the CLS Fund and the CDS as well 
as the administration of the LSC detailing the resources 
acquired, held or disposed of during the year and the use 
of resources by the LSC during the year. The accounts are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the LSC and of its net 
resource outturn, resources applied to objectives, 
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the 
financial year. 

The financial statements for the LSC’s administration and 
the CLS Fund and the CDS are prepared in accordance 
with the Treasury’s Government Financial Reporting 

Manual and applicable accounting standards. 

Auditors 
Paragraph 16 of Schedule 1 to the Access to Justice Act 
1999 provides that the Commission’s external auditor is 
the Comptroller and Auditor General. The cost of the 
audit is disclosed in note 6 to the LSC administration 
financial statements and relates solely to statutory audit 
work. 

As Accounting Officer, so far as I am aware there is no 
relevant audit information of which the Comptroller and 
Auditor General is unaware. I have taken all the steps 
necessary to make myself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the LSC’s auditors are 
also aware of that information.

Signed for and on behalf of the Legal Services 
Commission

Carolyn Regan 
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
20 October 2009
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This report summarises the Legal Services Commission’s 
(LSC) policy on remuneration of the Executive Team and 
non-executive Commissioners.

The tables in this report have been subject to audit by the 
external auditor, the Comptroller and Auditor General, 
appointed under the Access to Justice Act 1999. 

The Pay Committee
The LSC’s Human Resources Committee sits annually as a 
Pay Committee to determine the contractual 
arrangements and the salaries of the Chief Executive and 
the Executive Directors. 

Membership of the LSC’s Pay Committee consists of two 
Commissioners and three independent members. The 
members do not have any involvement in the day-to-day 
running of the LSC. The five members of the Pay 
Committee in 2008/09 were:

Beryl Seaman CBE JP (Chair)

Tina Fahm

Helen Murlis*

Beverley Shears*

Duncan Brown.*

The Chief Executive, Executive Director for Corporate 
Services and the Director of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development may attend the Committee 
to assist it in its deliberations. These individuals do not 
participate in any decisions relating to their own 
remuneration. 

Remuneration policy
Executive Team

The Chief Executive and the Executive Directors are 
employed on a full-time basis and their appointments are 
open-ended until they reach the normal retiring age of 
60. The LSC does not operate a fixed policy on 
termination payments for Executive Directors outside of 
the provisions of its early retirement and early severance 
scheme. 

Base pay

Executive Team base pay is determined by allocating them 
to one of three pay bands based on performance ratings 
agreed by the Chief Executive for Executive Directors and 
by the Chair for the Chief Executive. Increases to salary 
scales are based on the recommendations of the Senior 
Salaries Review Body (SSRB). 

Non-consolidated performance payments 

All Executive Directors are eligible for a non-consolidated 
performance payment up to a maximum of 20% of their 
individual salaries as part of their terms and conditions of 
employment. Non-consolidated performance payments 
are made for performance for the previous financial year. 
Therefore the non-consolidated performance payments 
shown in Table A are for 2007/08. 

The non-consolidated performance payment scheme for 
2007/08 placed emphasis on shared responsibility and, as 
well as being tied to the LSC’s Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs), there were culture and leadership targets for all 
Executive Directors. In 2007/08, the LSC achieved 22 out 
of 35 KPIs. The LSC’s Head of Corporate Assurance 
independently validates whether these are achieved.  
The KPIs contributed to our corporate targets, of which 
we partially achieved seven out of eight in 2007/08. See 

Remuneration report

* Helen Murlis and Beverley Shears are both independent members of the HR Committee. Helen Murlis is a 
remuneration specialist and is a Senior Director for HayGroup. Beverley Shears was the Director of HR at the Ministry 
of Justice (from April 2009, she took up the role of the Director of Offender Management at the National Offender 
Management Service). Beverley has a background in change management and organisational transformation and also 
specialises in HR matters. Duncan Brown retired from the Committee in 2009.
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the LSC’s Annual Report and Accounts 2007/08 for  
more details. 

The aim of the 2008/09 scheme is to reinforce a team 
culture and shared responsibility ethos, whilst still 
recognising differences in the levels of individual 
contribution, and taking account of government pay 
policy for these levels of staff. The 2008/09 scheme 
consisted of: corporate performance, determined by the 
achievement of ten strategic objectives each of which is 
underpinned by a number of KPIs; individual performance, 
determined by the achievement of three individual 
objectives; and a discretionary award made against four 
additional criteria for the Executive Directors.

We will report on 2008/09 non-consolidated payments 
to the Executive Directors in our 2009/10 remuneration 
report. 

Benefits in kind

Executive Directors currently in post are not entitled to 
any benefits in kind. As part of their remuneration 
package, former Executive Directors were entitled to 
taxable benefits in kind which consisted of a leased car, 
accommodation, reimbursement of travel from home to 
office and subsistence. 

Pensions

During 2008/09, all Executive Directors except Gary 
Robertson were members of the LSC’s No. 4 Staff Pension 
and Life Assurance Scheme. Details about the operation 
of the LSC’s pension schemes are shown in note 3 of the 
administration accounts. Executive Team pension costs 
are shown at Table B. 

Non-executive Commissioners

The Secretary of State for Justice appoints Commissioners 
for a fixed term and determines their pay, which is based 
on judicial salaries set by the SSRB. Commissioners can be 
reappointed once without the role being subject to open 
competition and can only serve for longer than a total of 
ten years in exceptional circumstances that have been 
agreed by the Commissioner for Public Appointments. 

Commissioners are appointed with different time 
commitments but are paid the same daily rate, with the 
exception of the Chair. Commissioners are also 
reimbursed for travel and other expenses they incur and 
the taxation paid by the LSC on those expenses. 

Commissioners’ remuneration is neither performance 
related nor pensionable. Appointment to the Commission 
does not attract any other benefits, special arrangements 
or other remuneration.

If a Commissioner’s appointment is terminated for 
reasons other than the expiry of their term, the Secretary 
of State for Justice may require the LSC to compensate 
that person. The amount would be determined by the 
Secretary of State based on the nature of the termination 
and the length of the term remaining. As in 2007/08, 
there were no terminations during 2008/09. 
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Table A: Senior employees – employment costs (for the year ending 31 March 2009)

Executive Team

Actual  
salary and  

allowances  
2009

Full year 
equivalent 
salary and 

allowances 
2009

Non-
consolidated 
performance 

payments  
in 2009 (for 

2007/08)

Benefits 
in kind in 

2009 (for 
2007/08)

Compensation 
paid

Total 
2009

Total 
2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Carolyn Regan 
Chief Executive

194.8 194.8 18.8 N/a N/a 213.6 200.0

Hugh Barrett1 
Executive Director for  

Commissioning  

(from 1 December 2008)

46.7 140 N/a N/a N/a 46.7 N/a

Phil Lambert 
Executive Director for  

Business Support  
(from 1 December 2008)

46.7 140 N/a N/a N/a 46.7 N/a

Hazel Parker-Brown 
Executive Director for  

Corporate Services  
(from 3 December 2008)

43.7 134 N/a N/a N/a 43.7 N/a

Rod Clark2 
Interim Executive  

Director for Policy 
(19 May to 7 August 2008)

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a

Richard Collins OBE3 & 4 
Executive Director for Policy  
(to 30 September 2008)

142.3 135.0 11.4 N/a 250.3 404.0 148.4

David Godfrey4 & 5 
Executive Director for  

Corporate Services  
(to 5 December 2008)

158.0 139.9 22.0 N/a 81.7 261.7 160.0

Mike Jeacock4, 5 & 6 
Executive Director for  

Service Delivery  
(to 30 April 2008)

17.1 128.7 9.3 1.6 200.0 228.0 231.4

Crispin Passmore 
Acting Executive  

Director for Policy  
(18 August 2008 to  
31 December 2008) 

43.9 117.8 N/a 0.3 N/a 44.2 N/a



Legal Services Commission38

Financial reports 2008/09

Remuneration report (continued)

Table A: Senior employees – employment costs (for the year ending 31 March 2009)

Executive Team

Actual  
salary and  

allowances  
2009

Full year 
equivalent 
salary and 

allowances 
2009

Non-
consolidated 
performance 

payments  
in 2009 (for 

2007/08)

Benefits 
in kind in 

2009 (for 
2007/08)

Compensation 
paid

Total 
2009

Total 
2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Helen Riley6 
Executive Director  

for Transformation 
(to 31 December 2008) 

104.0 131.9 13.1 13.7 N/a 130.8 159.5

Gary Robertson7 
Interim Executive Director  

for Service Delivery  
(6 May to 19 December 
2008)

230.7 N/a N/a N/a N/a 230.7 N/a

Notes

Non-consolidated payments awarded relate to performance for the 2007/08 financial year.

Benefits in kind may consist of a leased car and travel, subsistence and accommodation and income tax reimbursed by the LSC. This 
income tax figure may vary slightly from the final tax assessments by the Inland Revenue. 

There were no additional expenses allowances other than reimbursement of actual expenses incurred directly.

1  Hugh Barrett is a part time non-executive director with the Criminal Records Bureau, which compensates the LSC for his time 
(December 2008 to March 2009 – £2,560). The figure disclosed in the table above is Hugh’s gross remuneration.

2  Rod Clark was employed as an interim Executive Director from 19 May to 7 August 2008. He was on secondment from the 
Ministry of Justice. 

3  Richard Collins was made redundant during 2008/09.

4  The differences in the compensations paid to Richard Collins, David Godfrey and Mike Jeacock were due to the different 
individual contractual terms the LSC had with them and the agreements reached when they departed.

5  Mike Jeacock and David Godfrey were paid compensation for loss of office during 2008/09.

6  Benefits in kind for 2007/08 have been restated to exclude employer’s National Insurance costs previously included in the total.

7  Gary Robertson was an interim Executive Director engaged on a contract through the employment agency, Veredus. The cost 
disclosed above was not paid directly to Gary Robertson. It was the value of the Veredus contract and reflects market rates for 
interim contract work.
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Table B: Senior employees – pension costs

Total accrued pension  
payable at age 60  
at 31 March 2009  

and related  
lump sum

Real movement 
in pension and 

related lump 
sum payable at 

age 60

CETV at 
31 March 

2009

CETV at 
31 March 

2008

Real 
increase 
in CETV

Employer 
contribution to 

pension account 
including risk 
benefit cover

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Carolyn Regan Pension 66.3 
Lump sum 198.9

Pension 2.0 
Lump sum 6.1

1,405 1,185 35 34.2

Hugh Barrett1 Pension 0.5 
Lump sum 1.5

N/a 10 N/a 7 11.4

Phil Lambert1 Pension 0.5 
Lump sum 1.5

N/a 9 N/a 6 11.4

Hazel Parker-Brown1 Pension 0.5 
Lump sum 1.4

N/a 12 N/a 9 11.4

Richard Collins OBE 
(to 30 September 
2008)

Pension 14.0 
Lump sum 41.9

Pension 1.0 
Lump sum 2.9

260 207 14 17.1

David Godfrey 
(to 5 December 
2008)

Pension 5.3 
Lump sum 15.9

Pension 1.0 
Lump sum 3.1

104 76 16 22.8

Crispin Passmore  
(18 August 2008 to 
31 December 2008)

Pension 18.5  
Lump Sum 55.5 

Pension 1.2 
Lump sum 3.6

273 242 12 12.1

Mike Jeacock 
(to 30 April 2008)

Pension 8.6 
Lump sum 25.7

Pension 0.4 
Lump sum 1.3

177 168 8 2.9

Helen Riley 
(to 31 December 
2008) 

Pension 3.9 
Lump sum 11.9

Pension 1.1 
Lump sum 3.4

70 45 14 25.7

Notes

1 Phil Lambert and Hugh Barrett joined the scheme on 1 December 2008, Hazel Parker-Brown joined on 3 December 2008.

2 Gary Robertson and Rod Clark are not members of the LSC pension scheme, therefore their pension costs are not disclosed in 
the table above.

A one-off payment of £6m towards the pension shortfall made during 2008/09 has not been allocated against senior employees. 
Employer contribution is at the rate of 18.6% with an additional 10.5% paid this year towards the pension shortfall. 
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Table C: Non-executive Commissioners’ remuneration (for year ending 31 March 2009)

Commissioner  
(date appointed)

Date current 
term  

commenced

Unexpired 
years in 
current 

term
Remuneration 

2009

Full year 
equivalent 
salary and 

allowances 
2009

Expenses 
20091

Total 
2009

Total 
2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sir Bill Callaghan  
(member from  
28 July and Chair from  
1 September 2008)

28 July 
2008

2.3 33.6 54.0 0.7 34.3 N/a

Sir Michael Bichard  
(Chair until  
31 August 2008)

N/a N/a 30.4 73.0 N/a 30.4 72

Angus Andrew  
(from 1 March 2004)

1 March 
2007

1.9 23.6 N/a 0.7 24.3 25

David Edmonds CBE  
(from 1 March 2004  
until 30 June 2008)

N/a N/a 7.9 31.4 0.9 8.8 31

Barry Elliott  
(from 1 June 2007)

1 June 2007 2.2 23.9 N/a 2.9 26.8 18

Tina Fahm  
(from 1 November 2004)

1 November 
2007

2.6 31.4 N/a 3.8 35.2 34

Carolyn Hamilton  
(from 1 April 2008)

1 April 2008 3.0 10.7 N/a 0.4 11.1 N/a

Notes

1 Commissioner travel expenses vary according to the geographical location, the role and the time commitment of the individual 
Commissioner.

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 

A CETV is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of a 
member’s pension scheme benefits at a particular point in 
time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits 
and include, where applicable, the spouse’s pension payable 
from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension 
scheme that secures pension benefits in another pension 
scheme when the member leaves the scheme and chooses 
to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. 

The pension figures shown relate to benefits accrued for 
total membership of the pension scheme, not just in a senior 
capacity, and include the value of any pension benefit in 
another scheme, which has been transferred to the 
Commission’s pension scheme. CETVs are calculated within 

the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and 
Faculty of Actuaries. The CETV value for employees who left 
within the year 2008/09 was calculated up to their leaving 
date (instead of 31 March 2009).

Real increase in CETV

Real increase reflects the increase in CETV effectively 
funded by the employer (excluding the effect of fluctuations 
in the transfer value due to factors beyond the control of 
the Commission, such as investment market movements).  
It does not include the increase in accrued pension in line 
with inflation or contributions paid by the employee 
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another 
pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market 
valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Remuneration report (continued)
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Table C: Non-executive Commissioners’ remuneration (for year ending 31 March 2009)

Commissioner  
(date appointed)

Date current 
term  

commenced

Unexpired 
years in 
current 

term
Remuneration 

2009

Full year 
equivalent 
salary and 

allowances 
2009

Expenses 
20091

Total 
2009

Total 
2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Jane Hickman  
(from 1 June 2007)

1 June 2007 1.2 16.1 N/a N/a 16.1 13

Tom Jones OBE  
(from 1 March 2004)

1 March 
2008

2.9 31.4 N/a 14.9 46.3 46

Lionel Joyce OBE  
(from 1 July 2005)

1 July 2008 2.3 31.4 N/a 11.4 42.8 40

Julian Lee  
(from 1 November 2008)

1 November 
2008

2.6 4.4 10.7 0.5 4.9 N/a

Beryl Seaman CBE JP  
(from 1 July 2005)

1 July 2008 2.3 31.4 N/a 12.7 44.1 44

Peter Smith  
(from 1 April 2008)

1 April 2008 3.0 10.7 N/a 1.4 12.1 N/a

Dr David Wolfe  
(from 1 October 2005)

1 October 
2008

3.5 10.7 N/a 0.1 10.8 16

Notes

1 Commissioner travel expenses vary according to the geographical location, the role and the time commitment of the individual 
Commissioner.

Signed for and on behalf of the Legal Services Commission

Carolyn Regan 
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
20 October 2009
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Scope of responsibility 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for 
maintaining a sound system of internal control that 
supports the achievement of the Legal Services 
Commission’s (LSC) policies, aims and objectives, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for 
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. 

As Accounting Officer for the LSC, I am responsible and 
accountable to the Chair of the LSC who is accountable to 
the Lord Chancellor and Secretary of State for Justice for 
the running, management, performance and future 
development of the LSC. The Chair of the LSC and I 
regularly engage with the Permanent Secretary of the 
Ministry of Justice (MoJ), the Legal Aid Minister and the 
Lord Chancellor and Secretary of State for Justice and 
escalate risk management issues where appropriate. 

The purpose of the system of 
internal control 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk 
to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control 
is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of departmental 
policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. The system of internal control has been in 
place in the LSC for the year ended 31 March 2009 and 
up to the date of approval of the annual report and 
accounts, and accords with Treasury guidance. 

Capacity to handle risk 
As Accounting Officer, I have overall responsibility for the 
operational management of risk and the system of 
internal control at the LSC. I am supported by the 
Commission, which currently comprises of 12 non-
executive members. The Commission considers the 

management of risk at a strategic level. An Audit 
Committee, consisting of three Commissioners and 
attended by LSC officials and representatives from the 
MoJ and the National Audit Office, regularly reviews the 
effectiveness of the LSC’s risk management and internal 
control processes. The LSC reports monthly to the MoJ on 
the management of risk and key LSC risks are 
incorporated into the MoJ’s overarching risk register as 
necessary. 

I designate responsibility for each corporate risk to a 
member of the Executive Team with the Executive 
Director for Corporate Services taking overall 
responsibility for risk management. Her role includes the 
promotion of effective risk management across the 
organisation, with the aim of ensuring that it becomes an 
integral part of everything we do. A risk-based approach 
underpins the decisions made by the Commission and the 
Executive Team. 

All LSC staff have a responsibility to consider risk as part 
of their job and in the current year we have built risk 
management into managers’ performance frameworks. 
The LSC’s Risk Management Strategy is available to all staff 
on the LSC’s intranet and is based on guidance developed 
by the MoJ. 

During the last year the LSC’s Risk Manager 
communicated the Risk Management Strategy at 
workshops, meetings with business unit heads and project 
managers, and more widely through staff events and 
intranet articles. Supporting guidance has been developed 
for areas requiring improvement. 

The risk and control framework 
A risk and control framework is in place to identify, monitor, 
manage and report the risks or threats to the achievement 
of the LSC’s corporate and business objectives. Risks are 
identified, evaluated and controlled across all levels of the 
organisation in the following ways:

At a strategic level: the Commission and Audit 
Committee regularly review the LSC’s corporate risks 
and provide strategic input into the LSC’s risk register

Statement on internal control
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At senior executive level: the Executive Team consider 
and approve the corporate risk register quarterly.  
The Executive Team meet with the LSC’s Risk Manager 
each month to review the risks under their ownership 
and decide the actions necessary to address them

At director level: the Senior Management Team, which 
consists of all directors, consider risk management 
monthly. The Risk Management Committee meets 
regularly with senior managers to ensure that risks are 
being properly controlled

All directors are required to sign a personal assurance 
statement which provides a framework for assurance 
that key systems and policies are operating effectively 
and identifies any significant control issues. In the current 
year I am simplifying and strengthening this process

Through internal audit: reporting to the Audit 
Committee, the internal audit team conducts an annual 
risk-based programme of audits

At project management level: project managers are 
required to maintain a project risk register which is 
reviewed regularly by the Risk Manager and relevant 
project board. When necessary, key risks are escalated 
to the Change Programme Board, which I chair and 
which oversees the transformation of legal aid services

In business units: all business units have local risk 
registers in place as part of the LSC’s business planning 
process. These are reviewed regularly by the Risk 
Manager and escalated when necessary

All staff: the LSC’s management processes aim to 
strengthen the quality of how we set performance 
objectives for those responsible for managing risk 
within the LSC

The LSC has a system of delegated authority to control 
expenditure, and processes for the prevention, 
detection and reporting of fraud.

Risk management is embedded in the activity of the  
LSC through:

A corporate risk register that incorporates all of the 
LSC’s recognised risks and controls

A Risk Management Strategy with a Risk Manager 
responsible for developing the LSC’s risk management 
framework and ensuring consistency across the 
organisation

The use of risk registers in the business planning process

Policies, procedures and controls over procurement, 
finance, IT, information security, project management 
and human resources

Consultations on new policies with the public and  
other key stakeholders, accompanied by impact 
assessments to review the effect of policies on the 
whole justice system.

Information assurance 
We are working on a number of activities to address 
information assurance actions arising from a gap analysis 
and risk assessment against ISO 27001 (conducted by 
Deloittes) and recommendations made by our internal 
auditors. One of the activities planned is to carry out the 
first annual risk assessment against our information assets 
in February 2010.

To embed information assurance in the LSC we have:

Encrypted all laptops

Created an information asset register 

Appointed an LSC executive lead for information 
assurance, who is the Senior Information Risk Officer, 
and Information Asset Owners

Implemented policies to support information assurance

Developed an online training and awareness course for 
completion by 85% of staff by September 2009

Published an Information Charter to clarify for the public 
why we hold personal information on them and how 
we look after it

Continued to work towards full MoJ Security Policy 
Framework compliance.

Review of effectiveness 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control.  
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is informed by the work of the internal auditors 
and the managers within the LSC who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the internal 
control framework and comments made by the external 
auditors in their management letter and other reports.  
I have been advised on the implications of the result of 
my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control by the Commission, the Audit Committee, and 
the Risk Management Committee. A plan to address 

Statement on internal control (continued)
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Statement on internal control (continued)

weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 
system is in place. 

The processes that have been applied by the Commission, 
the Audit Committee and the Risk Management 
Committee in maintaining and reviewing the system of 
internal control are set out earlier in this document.

Significant internal control issues
During the year I have identified the follow control 
weaknesses:

The controls over the accuracy of providers’ claims for 
Civil Legal Help, including immigration and family

The controls over the means assessment of the 
eligibility of applicants for civil representation

The robustness of the accounting systems, processes 
and controls which has impacted on the timeliness and 
quality of financial information and reporting

The limited electronic integration between operational 
and accounting systems.

I am fully committed to resolving all these issues and 
have put in place the following actions:

A strengthening of controls over providers’ claims 
during the current year by increasing the scope of the 
provider audit and creating a new centre of excellence 
dedicated to this work

A more extensive programme of on-site audits of 
providers

A review of controls within operational systems with a 
clear timetable for delivering improvements

The development of management information systems 
to enable the accurate and timely reporting of claims 
made by providers, which will help us to take prompt 
corrective action as necessary 

Strengthening leadership of the finance function, 
charged with reviewing and improving the end-to-end 
processes and systems and building financial 
management skills within the LSC

In addition, I have jointly commissioned with the MoJ 
an independent review of the fund forecasting and 
accounting arrangements. I will establish, in 
consultation with the MoJ, a clear timetable for the 
implementation of the resultant recommendations.

LSC Online

In my 2007/08 statement on internal control I noted 
significant control issues relating to LSC Online (described 
in the 2007/08 report as the Supplier Management 
System). 

LSC Online, an IT system designed to support a number 
of top priority projects and business initiatives, was 
launched in early November 2007. Although it operated 
well with low levels of users, problems arose as the user 
base increased and the system was therefore withdrawn 
for external users. Since August 2008 we have relaunched 
LSC Online to specific groups of providers on a phased 
basis. 

Through a continuous programme of information 
gathering, data checking, communications and training, 
the LSC ensured that providers were prepared and 
supported so that they were able to submit their monthly 
claims successfully via LSC Online. The final group of 
eligible providers successfully joined LSC Online in March 
2009, providing access online for over 5,800 providers’ 
offices. The system has been performing well and 
feedback has been positive.

Signed for and on behalf of the Legal Services 
Commission

Carolyn Regan 
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer 
20 October 2009
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Under paragraph 16 (1) of Schedule 1 to the Access to 
Justice Act 1999, the Secretary of State for Justice has 
directed the Legal Services Commission (LSC) to prepare, 
for each financial year, accounts for the Community Legal 
Service (CLS) Fund and the Criminal Defence Service 
(CDS) as well as the administration of the LSC detailing 
the resources acquired, held or disposed of during the 
year and the use of resources by the LSC during the year. 
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the LSC 
and of its net resource outturn, resources applied to 
objectives, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for 
the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the LSC is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Government Financial 

Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary 
of State, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting 
policies on a consistent basis 

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

State whether applicable accounting standards as set 
out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual have 
been followed, and disclose and explain any material 
departures in the accounts

Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis. 

The Accounting Officer of the Ministry of Justice has 
designated the LSC’s Chief Executive as principal 
Accounting Officer of the LSC. 

The responsibilities of the Chief Executive as Accounting 
Officer, include responsibility for the propriety and 
regularity of the public finances for which the Accounting 
Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records and for 
safeguarding the LSC’s assets, are set out in the Treasury’s 
NDPB Accounting Officer Memorandum, issued by the 
Treasury and published in Managing Public Money. 

A statement of the responsibilities of the 
Accounting Officer of the Commission
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I certify that I have audited the financial statements of 
the Legal Services Commission’s Community Legal 
Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service for the year 
ended 31 March 2009 under the Access to Justice Act 
1999. These comprise the Income and Expenditure 
Account, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and 
Statement of Recognised Gains and Losses and the 
related notes. These financial statements have been 
prepared under the accounting policies set out within 
them. I have also audited the information in the 
Remuneration Report that is described in that report as 
having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of the 
Commission, Accounting Officer 
and auditor
The Commission and Chief Executive as Accounting 
Officer are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, 
which includes the Remuneration Report, and the 
financial statements in accordance with the Access to 
Justice Act 1999 and directions made thereunder by the 
Secretary of State and the Lord Chancellor with the 
approval of the Treasury and for ensuring the regularity of 
financial transactions. These responsibilities are set out in 
the Statement of the Responsibilities of the Accounting 
Officer and of the Commission.

My responsibility is to audit the financial statements and 
the part of the remuneration report to be audited in 
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements, and with International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

I report to you my opinion as to whether the financial 
statements give a true and fair view and whether the 
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration 
Report to be audited have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Access to Justice Act 1999 and 
directions made there under by the Secretary of State 
and the Lord Chancellor with the approval of the 
Treasury. I report to you whether, in my opinion, the 
information, which comprises the Management 
Commentary, included in the Annual Report is consistent 
with the financial statements. I also report whether in all 

material respects the expenditure and income have been 
applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the 
financial transactions conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 

In addition, I report to you if the Commission has not kept 
proper accounting records, if I have not received all the 
information and explanations I require for my audit, or if 
information specified by HM Treasury regarding 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

I review whether the Statement on Internal Control 
reflects the Commission’s compliance with HM Treasury’s 
guidance, and I report if it does not. I am not required to 
consider whether this statement covers all risks and 
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Commission’s corporate governance procedures or its risk 
and control procedures.

I read the other information contained in the Annual 
Report and consider whether it is consistent with the 
audited financial statements. This other information 
comprises the sections headed “Legal aid fair access to 
justice”, “Year in focus”, “Our performance”, the unaudited 
part of the Remuneration Report and the Chair and Chief 
Executive’s review. I consider the implications for my report 
if I become aware of any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with the financial statements. My 
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinions
I conducted my audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the 
Auditing Practices Board. My audit includes examination, 
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts, 
disclosures and regularity of financial transactions 
included in the financial statements and the part of the 
Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an 
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments 
made by the Commission and Accounting Officer in the 
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether 
the accounting policies are most appropriate to the 
Commission’s circumstances, consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed.

Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General 
to the Houses of Parliament 
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I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which I considered 
necessary in order to provide me with sufficient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error, and that in all material respects the 
expenditure and income have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern 
them. In forming my opinion I also evaluated the overall 
adequacy of the presentation of information in the 
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration 
Report to be audited.

Opinions
In my opinion: 

the financial statements give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with the Access to Justice Act 1999 and 
directions made thereunder by the Secretary of State 
and the Lord Chancellor with the approval of the 
Treasury, of the state of Community Legal Service Fund 
and Criminal Defence Service’s affairs as at 31 March 
2009 and of its deficit, recognised gains and losses and 
cash flows for the year then ended; 

the financial statements and the part of the 
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Access to Justice Act 
1999 and directions made thereunder by the Secretary 
of State and the Lord Chancellor with the approval of 
Treasury; and

information, which comprises the Management 
Commentary, included within the Annual Report, is 
consistent with the financial statements.

Opinion on Regularity
In the year to 31 March 2009, the Commission paid £2 
billion of legal aid to solicitors, of which £24.7 million was 
overpaid. The overpayments relate either to solicitors’ 
claims being paid at amounts higher than that supported 
by evidence or where legal aid had been provided to 
claimants whose eligibility could not be demonstrated. 
Such overpayments were, by definition, not in accordance 
with regulations made under the Access to Justice Act 
1999, and accordingly I have concluded that this 
expenditure has not been applied to the purposes 

intended by Parliament and is not in conformity with the 
authorities which govern it. 

In my opinion, except for the level of incorrect and 
unsupported legal aid expenditure referred to above, in all 
material respects, the expenditure and income have been 
applied to the purposes intended. 

Details of these matters are set out in my accompanying 
report. 

Amyas C E Morse 
Comptroller and Auditor General
National Audit Office 
151 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London SW1W 9SS
     October 2009

The Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament (continued)
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Introduction
1. The Legal Services Commission (the Commission) is 

an executive non-departmental public body of the 
Ministry of Justice. The Commission is responsible for 
the provision of legal aid in England and Wales 
through the Community Legal Service Fund (for  
civil cases) and the Criminal Defence Service (for 
criminal cases). 

The purpose of my report 
2. The purpose of this Report is to explain the 

background to the qualification of my audit opinion 
on the Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal 
Defence Service accounts for the year ended 31 March 
2009 in respect of material error in payments to 
solicitors. I also outline the steps the Commission is 
taking to address the weaknesses in the system of 
control over the payments made to solicitors, in order 
to prevent a reoccurrence of these errors in the future. 

My obligations as Auditor
3. Under the Access to Justice Act 1999, I am required to 

examine, certify and report on the Commission’s 
accounts. I am required, under International Standards 
of Auditing (UK and Ireland) to obtain evidence to give 
reasonable assurance that these accounts are free 
from material misstatement. In forming my opinion I 
examine, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
disclosures in the financial statements and assess the 
significant estimates and judgements made in 
preparing them. I also consider whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate, consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed.

Audit Opinion
Qualified audit opinion due to material error 
in payments to solicitors 

4. As part of my audit of the accounts, I am required to 
satisfy myself that the expenditure and income shown 
in the accounts have been applied to the purposes 
intended by Parliament and conform to the 
authorities that govern them; that is, they are 
“regular”. In determining whether expenditure and 
income conform to the authorities that govern them,  
I have regard to the legislation authorising the 
financial transactions and relevant regulations issued 
under the governing legislation. 

5. I have qualified my opinion on the Legal Services 
Commission’s accounts for the year ended 31 March 
2009 as I identified material errors in respect of 
payments made to solicitors. In order to support  
my regularity opinion, I needed to assure myself that 
the amounts paid to solicitors were in line with the 
legislation governing the fee regimes and that the 
Commission approved legal aid only to eligible 
applicants. My testing identified an estimated total 
overpayment error of £24.7 million in the Commission’s 
accounts for 2008/09. The overpayments relate either 
to solicitors’ claims being paid at amounts higher than 
that supported by evidence or where legal aid had been 
provided to applicants whose eligibility could not be 
demonstrated. This error represents 1.2 per cent of the 
Commission’s expenditure during the year. 

Legal Aid payments to solicitors

6. During 2008/09, the Commission incurred operating 
expenditure of £2,091 million. Legal aid for criminal 
cases through the Criminal Defence Service, covering 
work at the police station and Magistrates’ Court 
(Crime Lower) and at the Crown Court (Crime Higher), 
totalled £1,176 million. Legal aid for civil cases through 

Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to 
the Houses of Parliament on the Community Legal 
Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service 
Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2009
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the Community Legal Service- which covers Legal Help 
(advice on civil matters) and Civil Representation 
(representation of clients at the County Court and 
Family Court) - totalled £915 million.

7. The Commission contracts solicitors to provide advice 
and representation to eligible applicants through a 
number of legal aid schemes. The way in which the 
Commission pays the solicitors varies depending on 
the scheme but is based on the claims the solicitors 
submit for work done on each case. The provision of 
legal aid through some schemes is subject to an 
eligibility assessment of a client’s financial means. The 
means assessments are completed by different 
parties, dependent on the scheme, as set out below. 

Community Legal 
Service 

Criminal Defence 
Service 

1.  Legal Help 
Means tested by the 

solicitor

1.  Crime Lower: Police 
Station 
Not means tested

2.  Civil Representation 
Means tested by the 

Commission

2.  Crime Lower: 
Magistrates’ Court 
Means tested by the 

Court

3.  Crime Higher:  
Crown Court 
Not means tested

8. In order to confirm that amounts paid to solicitors 
were in line with the relevant legislation, I tested the 
accuracy of a sample of claims for each scheme.  
In order to ensure that legal aid was only provided to 
eligible applicants I placed reliance on the work of the 
Commission’s own assurance teams. I identified an 
error rate for each exercise and extrapolated this 
across each population to calculate an estimated total 
error for the Commission’s accounts. 

9. The estimated total error in the Commission’s accounts 
for 2008/09 is an overstatement of expenditure of 
£24.7 million. The majority of this error (£18.3 million, 
74 per cent) relates to overpayments made to solicitors 
across both the civil and criminal schemes. The 
remaining error of £6.4 million (26 per cent) relates to 
payments made to solicitors where legal aid had been 
provided to claimants whose eligibility could not be 
demonstrated. The majority of errors relate to 
expenditure through the Community Legal Service 
(£16.8 million), with the expenditure through the 
Criminal Defence Service accounting for approximately 
a third of the estimated total error (£7.9 million).

10. I set out in the following paragraphs further details of 
the overpayment and eligibility errors identified during 
the audit of the 2008/09 accounts. 

Overpayment errors

11. During my audit I have estimated £18.3 million of 
overpayments to solicitors as set out in the  
following table: 

Estimated error on accuracy of payments

Legal Aid Scheme Population
Financial 

errors Error rate
Estimated 

Error
£’m £ % £’m

Legal Help: Immigration & Family 130.2 6,514 8.06% 10.5

Crime Lower: Police station & Magistrates’ Court claims 478.5 356 0.74% 3.6

Legal Help: Other 106.4 449 2.12% 2.3

Crime Higher: Crown Court payments to advocates 277.7 1,310 0.61% 1.7

Crime Higher: Very High Cost Cases (VHCC) payments 108.0 2,933 0.30% 0.3

Civil Representation 804.7 (11) (0.01%) (0.1)

Total of Accuracy Errors  11,551  18.3

Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament (continued)
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12. I have outlined below further details of the most 
significant errors – on Legal Help, Crime Lower and the 
Crown Court. I also report on the Commission’s own 
assurance mechanisms over the payment of solicitors 
through these schemes; the extent of my own testing, 
and the type and incidence of errors identified.

Legal Help and Crime Lower 

13. For Legal Help and Crime Lower, the Commission pays 
solicitors through various fixed and standard fee 
schemes, with rates largely determined by the category 
of work, Solicitors input their claims in respect of work 
undertaken into the Commission’s LSC Online system1, 
which currently has limited data validation controls in 
operation. The claims determine the standard monthly 
payments that suppliers will receive from the 
Commission. These claims are not validated by the 
Commission before monthly payments are processed. 
Instead, throughout the year, the Commission’s 
Contract Compliance Audit (CCA) team reviews a 
sample of claims, confirming that the suppliers have 
discharged their contractual requirements, including 
whether the file supports the fee claimed. This is the 
Commission’s only direct mechanism to confirm the 
accuracy of individual claims submitted by solicitors. 

14. During 2008/09, the Commission deployed a large 
team of 80 staff on this assurance work, each of 
whom spent a limited proportion of their time on the 
work (estimated as equivalent of 12 full time members 
of staff). The team selected a random sample of 
solicitors and chose 20 case files from each solicitor to 
review. Following this review, the Commission 
concluded that, for a number of cases, the claims were 
in respect of applicants ineligible for legal aid or 
outside of contractual requirements. 

15. The Commission’s policy is to tolerate up to two 
unsupported files in a sample of 20, although it 
ignores any partial errors in claims. Where there are 
more than two unsupported files in the sample, the 
Commission seeks to recoup the value of the claim 
from the solicitor and may undertake further testing 
of the solicitor’s files. The Commission may also 
consider the application of a contract sanction if it 
considers the solicitor’s level of non-compliance to be 
particularly serious, rather than due to an 

administrative error. The Commission issued 14 
notices of contract breaches to providers during 
2008-09 and a further 11 to date during 2009-10.

16. I planned my audit to take assurance from the 
Commission’s own review of 7,845 solicitor case files 
selected across 455 solicitors. However, my 
reperformance of a sample of the case file reviews 
identified that not all claim errors had been identified 
by the Commission’s auditors. As a result, I was not 
able to rely on the Commission’s work and so 
undertook additional testing of a sample of 450 
claims in order to test their accuracy. 

17. My additional work indicates that within the Legal 
Help and Crime Lower expenditure streams there are 
net over claim errors of £16.3 million. This calculation 
is a prudent one; it includes cases where I found 
insufficient evidence to support fees or disbursements 
claimed by solicitors as well as demonstrable errors. 

18. I found the highest level of financial error (eight percent) 
was in relation to Family and Immigration claims within 
Legal Help; my testing here indicated that 25 percent of 
all claims were incorrect or unsupported. For many of 
these errors, the solicitor had claimed an incorrect 
category or level of work and the majority of such errors 
resulted in over claims. For example, I identified a 
number of instances where the solicitor had incorrectly 
claimed an asylum fee instead of the correct (and lower) 
immigration fee. Another major source of error related 
to inaccuracies around the claiming of VAT. 

19. The Commission recognises there are a number of 
factors contributing to this significant level of over 
claims. This includes the complexity of the fee regimes, 
the lack of system-enforced controls in LSC Online to 
validate the accuracy of the claims when submitted, 
and the quality of the Commission’s post-payment 
internal assurance processes. This, together with the 
limited sanctions in place for incorrect claims, creates a 
risk of suppliers exploiting the payment system. 

Crown Court Payments

20. The Commission pays advocates for work in the 
Crown Courts through the Advocates Graduated Fee 
Scheme. The fees are determined by the facts of the 

1 LSC Online was introduced in 2007/08 in phases and has been fully operational since March 2009. The system allows 
solicitors to submit electronic claims to the Commission.
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case, such as advocate category, type of case, number 
of witnesses and number of pages of prosecution 
evidence. These claims are validated by Her Majesty’s 
Court Service (HMCS) prior to payment. The work 
undertaken by HMCS is governed by a Service Level 
Agreement with the Commission. While the claims 
are not subject to review by the Commission, the 
Service Level Agreement provides for the Ministry of 
Justice’s Internal Audit service to undertake an audit at 
the request of the Commission.

21. I undertook testing at a number of Crown Courts to 
confirm the accuracy of payments made to advocates. 
This testing identified a total net overpayment error of 
£1,310, which related to actual errors and claims 
which were not supported by sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence. When extrapolated, this indicates an 
estimated net overpayment of £1.7 million. Recoveries 
of over payments made to advocates are dealt with by 
HMCS under the Service Level Agreement using 
powers set out in Article 26 of the Criminal Defence 
services Funding Order. 

Eligibility

22. I have identified an estimated £6.4 million of 
payments to solicitors for legal aid provided to 
ineligible clients. I have set out below the details of 
the most significant errors – on Legal Help, Crime 
Lower and Civil Representation. I also report on the 
Commission’s own assurance mechanisms over the 
payment of solicitors through these schemes; the 
extent of my own testing; and the type and 
prevalence of errors identified. 

Estimated error on eligibility

Legal Aid 
Scheme Population

Financial 
errors

Estimated 
Error

£’m £ £’m

Legal Help 236.6 178 2.3

Crime Lower: 
Magistrates’ 
Court 184.2 23,036 2.3

Civil 
Representation 286 10,064 1.6

CLS Direct 3.2 999 0.2

Total of 
Eligibility Errors  34,277 6.4

Legal Help

23. Before solicitors provide initial advice to clients on a civil 
matter, the solicitor must complete a means assessment 
of the client’s financial eligibility for legal aid. 

24. The Contract Compliance Audit (CCA) testing 
conducted by the Commission includes testing claims 
to confirm client eligibility for the receipt of legal aid. 
However, the CCA results identified a high number of 
potentially ineligible clients due to solicitors not 
always retaining sufficient evidence to support their 
assessment of a client’s eligibility. The Commission 
agreed to conduct an additional file review exercise to 
specifically test client eligibility using alternative 
sources of evidence. Having satisfied myself of the 
scope and quality of this work, I placed reliance on the 
Commission’s work in this area for the external audit 
of the accounts. 

25. The results from this separate exercise identified an 
estimated error of £2.3m, which indicates the 
Commission may have paid this amount to solicitors 
for advice provided to individuals who were not 
eligible for legal aid. 

Crime Lower: Magistrates’ Court 

26. The Criminal Defence Act 2006 introduced means-
testing for the representation of clients in the 
Magistrates’ Court from October 2006 onwards.  
The means assessment of the applicant’s financial 
eligibility for legal aid is completed by the Magistrates’ 
Court where the client’s case is being heard. 

27. Due to the limited evidence of client eligibility provided 
by the solicitors and maintained by the Courts, in 
2008/09 the Commission undertook a separate 
exercise to confirm the eligibility of clients to alternative 
sources of evidence. This is the Commission’s assurance 
mechanism for confirming the eligibility of recipients 
for criminal legal aid, which is led by its National Courts 
Team. Having satisfied myself of the scope and quality 
of this work, I placed reliance on the results of the 
Commission’s work in this area. 

28. The work of the National Courts Team identified an 
estimated net over claim in 2008/09 of £2.3 million 
(1.2% of the population of £184 million). This 
indicates that the Commission may have paid out this 
amount to solicitors for representation in Court of 
individuals who may not have been eligible for legal 

Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament (continued)
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aid. This is a prudent error calculation; it includes 
cases where there was insufficient evidence of 
eligibility as well as proven cases of ineligibility.

Civil Representation 

29. When the Commission provides legal aid to clients 
under the Civil Representation scheme, the clients may 
be required to make a contribution towards the costs of 
the case. The means assessment and calculation of any 
contributions to be paid by the client were completed 
by individual assessors within the Commission’s 
regional offices. The Commission introduced a cross-
office quality review to validate the assessments made 
on a sample of approved applications. Having satisfied 
myself of the scope and quality of the work undertaken 
by the regional offices, I placed reliance on the results 
of the Commission’s work in this area.

30. The Commission’s review identified errors where either 
an individual was ineligible for legal aid, or where the 
amount of contribution had been incorrectly calculated. 
The results indicate an estimated overpayment error of 
£1.6 million. The Commission’s policy is to adjust the 
amount of contribution where this was incorrectly 
calculated or to revoke certificates if legal aid has been 
granted to ineligible applicants. 

Actions taken or proposed to be taken by 
the Commission to address the weaknesses 
in the system of control

Accuracy of payments for Legal Help and  
Crime Lower

31. The most significant issue for the Commission is the 
high level of error in the accuracy of solicitor claims 
for work provided through the Legal Help and Crime 
Lower legal aid schemes. The Commission considers 
that the errors stem primarily from the complexity of 
the fee regime; the lack of controls within LSC Online 
to validate the claims and the quality of the CCA work 
to identify incorrect claims. In my view, the absence of 
a strict sanctions regime to deter the submission of 
incorrect claims by suppliers may also have 
contributed to the incidence of error. 

32. The Commission has recognised the need to address a 
number of the key weaknesses causing this high level 
of error and is taking action in three key areas: solicitor 
engagement, enhancing LSC Online data validation 

controls and bolstering the Commission’s compliance 
and assurance work. 

33. The Commission will also review the guidance 
provided to solicitors with regard to what fees they 
should be claiming and how claims are input onto LSC 
Online. Given the level of errors identified within my 
testing, in particular on family and immigration 
claims, I recommend the Commission reviews the 
structure of the fee regime and consider whether 
there is scope for simplification. 

34. The Commission is already undertaking work to review 
the functionality of its controls within LSC Online to 
improve the data validation over claims submitted by 
solicitors. Enhanced input controls could prevent, for 
example, a firm of solicitors working outside London 
from claiming rates specific to work in London. 

35. The Commission has established a dedicated team of 
12 staff to conduct its Contract Compliance Audits 
from 2009/10 onwards. This should assist in 
enhancing the quality of the audit work done and 
consistency of judgements made. It has also 
committed to reviewing the guidance and training 
provided to its auditors to ensure that they identify 
and document all errors. The Commission also plans 
to extend the quality control checking of the results of 
the audit team’s work to confirm that the CCA process 
is identifying all errors and treating them consistently.

36. I welcome the Commission’s proposed actions and 
the setting of clear timelines and agreed 
accountabilities for these actions. I will be revisiting 
these issues as part of my audit of the Commission’s 
2009/10 financial statements. 

37. I recommend that the Commission revisits the policies 
in relation to recovering over claims from its suppliers, 
in particular the element of the policy which ignores 
partial errors in amounts claimed. The Commission 
should also review its use of sanctions against 
suppliers as a matter of urgency to ensure that these 
act as a necessary deterrent to solicitors from claiming 
inappropriate fees. 

Accuracy of Crown Court payments

38. The Report highlights potential risks of significant 
overpayments which may be caused by errors or a 
lack of supporting documentation. The Commission 
has a Service Level Agreement with HMCS to oversee 
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the payments of advocates for work in the Crown 
Courts. Under this agreement, HMCS is responsible 
for validating the claims. Given the level of error in 
these claims, the Commission should liaise with 
HMCS to consider how to ensure the controls 
operated by the Courts are more robust and identify 
errors in claims prior to payment. HMCS and the 
Commission are working together to address these 
issues. At present there are periodic joint internal audit 
reviews by HMCS and the Commission to assess the 
degree of compliance with the terms of the Service 
Level Agreements. The Commission needs to ensure 
that it secures sufficient, regular assurance on the 
operation of the Agreement to be able to confirm the 
accuracy and validity of claims paid via the Courts.

Eligibility

39. Since the Commission introduced means-testing in the 
Magistrates’ Court in October 2006, its National 
Courts Team has undertaken profiling work in relation 
to the eligibility of applicants. The Team has developed 
this process throughout 2007/08 and 2008/09 to 
collate detailed information about the categories of 
applicants granted and refused legal aid; the value of 
legal aid provided to ineligible applicants, and where 
claimant eligibility is not fully supported. This has 
helped to focus the Team’s assurance work and to 
address the factors contributing to these errors.

40. The Commission faces a further challenge with the 
introduction of means assessment in Crown Courts 
planned for the latter part of 2009/10. It will need to 
carefully consider the controls to be established to 
confirm and provide assurance over client eligibility to 
support this initiative. 

41. At present the Commission undertakes limited analysis 
of the results of its eligibility assessment of applicants 
receiving legal aid for Legal Help. While the CCA team 
considers the results for each solicitor and identifies 
whether recoupment or further training is needed, the 
results are not considered collectively to identify trends 
across all solicitors and different categories of applicant. 
This is also the case for cross-office eligibility testing of 
civil representation work. 

42. I recommend that the Commission undertake profiling 
work across all areas of means-tested legal aid to 
identify categories of applicants deemed to be at greater 
risk of ineligibility and to quantify the value of legal aid 

granted to ineligible applicants, or where claimant 
eligibility is not fully supported. The Commission should 
communicate these results to all parties undertaking the 
means assessment. Where appropriate, the Commission 
should also ensure that suitable sanctions are imposed 
on solicitors for failing to comply with the Commission’s 
means testing criteria.

43. I will be assessing how the Commission has tackled 
the issues raised in my report as part of my audit of 
the Commission’s financial statements for 2009/10. 

44. I have undertaken a separate examination, under 
section 6 of the National Audit Act 1983 and to be 
presented to Parliament under section 9 of that Act, 
into the Commission’s Procurement of Criminal Legal 
Aid. I will be reporting the results of this examination 
shortly. 

Amyas C E Morse 
Comptroller & Auditor General
National Audit Office 
151 Buckingham Palace Road   
Victoria 
London SW1W 9SS
     October 2009 
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Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service 
Income and expenditure account
For the year ended 31 March 2009

Restated
 2009 

 CLS 
 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

Note  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Operating income 2  195,904  1,547  197,451  220,864  1,378  222,242 

Operating expenditure 3  (914,710)  (1,176,336) (2,091,046)  (703,359)  (1,157,107)  (1,860,466)

Operating deficit 5  (718,806)  (1,174,789)  (1,893,595)  (482,495)  (1,155,729)  (1,638,224)

Interest receivable and 
similar income 6  11,468   -  11,468  14,763   -  14,763 

 
Interest paid 6  (150)   -  (150)  (197)   -  (197)

Other finance costs 7   - (7)  (7)   -  (19)  (19)

Cost of capital charge 1 f)  11,531  18,525  30,056  21,749  19,255  41,004 

Deficit for the year  (695,957)  (1,156,271)  (1,852,228)  (446,180)  (1,136,493)  (1,582,673)

Reversal of cost of  
capital charge 1 f)  (11,531)  (18,525)  (30,056)  (21,749)  (19,255)  (41,004)

Retained deficit for the year 13 (707,488)  (1,174,796) (1,882,284)  (467,929)  (1,155,748)  (1,623,677)

All income and expenditure are derived from continuing operations.

Comparatives have been restated as detailed in note 6.

Statement of recognised gains and losses
For the year ended 31 March 2009

 2009 
 CLS 

 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

Note  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Prior year adjustment 1 n) 1,267 3,134  4,401  -  -  -

Gains recognised since 
last annual report 1,267 3,134 4,401  -  -  -

Adoption of FRS 26 as detailed in note 1 n) has been accounted for as a prior year adjustment and resulted in a gain of £4.4m.

The notes on pages 57 to 72 form part of these financial statements.
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Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service 
Balance sheet
For the year ended 31 March 2009

 Restated 
 2009 

 CLS 
 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

Note  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Fixed assets 4  12 123  135  22  226  248 

Current assets

Debtors 9  212,316  6,787  219,103  221,839  5,973  227,812 

Cash at bank and in hand 8  2,924  1,972  4,896  3,031  1,007  4,038 

 215,240  8,759  223,999  224,870  6,980  231,850 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Other creditors 11  (50,586)  (33,166)  (83,752)  (80,306)  (46,839)  (127,145)

Net current assets/
(liabilities)  164,654  (24,407)  140,247  144,564  (39,859)  104,705 

Total assets less 
current liabilities  164,666  (24,284)  140,382  144,586  (39,633)  104,953 

Provisions for liabilities 
and charges 12  (391,460)  (498,515)  (889,975)  (576,690)  (496,120)  (1,072,810)

 (226,794)  (522,799)  (749,593)  (432,104)  (535,753)  (967,857)

 
Capital and reserves

Income and expenditure 
reserve 13  (226,794)  (522,799)  (749,593)  (432,104)  (535,753)  (967,857)

 (226,794)  (522,799)  (749,593)  (432,104)  (535,753)  (967,857)

Comparatives have been restated as detailed in note 1n).

Carolyn Regan 
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
20 October 2009

The notes on pages 57 to 72 form part of these financial statements.
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Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service 
Cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 March 2009

Restated
 2009 

 CLS 
 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

Note  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Net cash outflow from 
operating activities  15  (918,382)  (1,186,784)  (2,105,166)  (851,643)  (1,178,942)  (2,030,585)

Financing - grants 
received 13  912,798  1,187,750  2,100,548  843,970  1,178,271  2,022,241 

Fixed asset (additions)/
disposals 4   -  (1)  (1)  1   -  1 

Interest received 14  5,627   -  5,627  7,760   -  7,760 

Interest surrendered 6  (150)   -  (150)  (197)   -  (197)

(Decrease)/increase 
in cash  (107)  965  858  (109)  (671)  (780)

Comparatives have been restated as detailed in note 6.

The notes on pages 57 to 72 form part of these financial statements.
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Note 1 - Statement of accounting policies

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
the Treasury’s Government Financial Reporting Manual and 
applicable accounting standards. They are in a form as 
directed by the Secretary of State for Justice and Lord 
Chancellor with the approval of the Treasury. The financial 
statements are presented in sterling, rounded to the 
nearest thousand.

The following accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items considered material in 
relation to the financial statements subject to a change in 
accounting policy detailed in note 1 i) and 1n) below.

a) Accounting convention

The accounts are prepared under the historical cost 
convention except that certain financial instruments have 
been stated at fair value. This complies with Treasury 
guidance. Without limiting the information given, the 
accounts meet the accounting and disclosure requirements 
of the Companies Act and accounting standards issued by 
the Accounting Standards Board so far as those 
requirements are relevant. The accounts are also consistent, 
where appropriate, with generally accepted accounting 
practice in the United Kingdom (UK GAAP).

b) Tangible fixed assets

Fixed assets are carried at their valuation in use. 
Depreciated historical costs are used as a proxy for 
current value of non-property assets because the assets 
have short economic useful lives. Assets costing more 
than the prescribed capitalisation level of £1,000 (2008: 
£1,000) are treated as capital assets. Where an item costs 
less than the prescribed limit but forms part of an asset or 
grouped asset, whose total value is greater than the 
capitalisation level, the item is treated as a capital asset.

c) Depreciation

Except for assets under construction depreciation is 
provided on all fixed assets on a straight-line basis to 

write off the cost of tangible fixed assets over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:
Fixtures and fittings 5 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years
Computer equipment 3 to 5 years

Assets under construction are not depreciated until they 
have been completed. On completion assets are 
transferred to their relevant category and depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives.

d) Income and expenditure

The Commission’s income includes contributions receivable 
from funded clients. Where the costs incurred by the 
Commission in funding a case are recoverable from funded 
clients or others, these amounts are accounted for as 
income. These amounts may be recovered from funded 
clients from both awarded costs and, where applicable, 
damages. Grants received from third parties are also 
accounted for as income. Expenditure comprises sums 
payable, including the estimated value of work completed 
by legal aid service providers not yet billed, for services 
provided to funded clients, refunds of contributions to 
funded clients, costs awarded to other parties and other 
costs associated with the provision of legal advice and 
assistance. Other costs include the cost of staff, including 
an allocation of pension costs, employed by the Public 
Defender Service, CDS Direct and Community Legal Advice 
and Other Projects. These staff costs are disclosed in note 2 
to the accounts of the Legal Services Commission. 

e) Grant receivable

Grant receivable for revenue purposes or for the 
acquisition of general fixed assets is accounted for as 
financing and credited directly to the income and 
expenditure reserve. Grant is received from the Ministry 
of Justice periodically throughout the year.

f) Cost of capital charge

As required by the Treasury, a charge is made to the 
income and expenditure account for the notional cost of 

Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service 
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service Notes to the financial statements (continued)

capital. The notional capital charge, which reflects the 
cost of financing capital employed, is calculated at 3.5% 
(2008: 3.5%) of average net assets employed during the 
year. In accordance with Treasury guidance the notional 
charge is reversed out of the income and expenditure 
account before determining the retained surplus or deficit 
for the year. As the Commission has net liabilities a 
negative charge applies.

g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank and cash 
balances. All bank balances are held with commercial 
bodies.

h) Provisions

The Community Legal Service and Criminal Defence 
Service recognise their liability to pay for work completed 
at 31 March but not yet billed. The provision is based on 
the number of outstanding certificates, the elapsed time 
on each case and estimated average costs based on 
closed case data. 

Provision is made for estimated dilapidation costs on 
leasehold buildings. The provision has been estimated 
with reference to the condition and location of the 
buildings and discounted at 2.2% (2008: 2.2%). 

i) Debt impairment provision

The Commission has adopted FRS26 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement (see note 1 n below).  
The Commission estimates debt impairment provision 
based on cash flow forecasts discounted at the 
Commission’s cost of capital, currently 3.5% (2008: 3.5%).

j) Operating leases

The costs of operating leases are charged to the income 
and expenditure account as they fall due.

k) Accounting for value added tax

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or, if appropriate, capitalised with additions to 
fixed assets. Income and expenditure is otherwise shown 
net of VAT.

l) Deposit accounts for funded clients

Awards for damages to funded clients are initially payable 
to the Legal Services Commission. The Commission places 
these funds on deposit until the final costs of a case have 
been calculated, when any excess of contributions and 
damages is paid to the funded client. These funds are 
accounted for as funds held on behalf of third parties and 
as a consequence do not appear in these accounts. 

The movement in third party funds is reported in note 22 
to these accounts.

Awards for damages paid to the Commission attract interest 
after a qualifying period. Any excess of interest received in 
the deposit accounts over the amounts due on amounts 
held on deposit is accounted for in the financial statements 
of the Legal Services Commission as damages income.

m) Going concern

The Legal Services Commission is a statutory body 
established under the Access to Justice Act 1999. The 
Commission is charged with the responsibility for managing 
and accounting for the Community Legal Service Fund and 
the Criminal Defence Service both of which are legal aid 
schemes provided for under the Access to Justice Act 1999. 
The Commission takes the view that the going concern 
concept applies to those accounts which present the 
operations of the Community Legal Service Fund and the 
Criminal Defence Service as long as the provisions of the 
Access to Justice Act 1999 remain extant.

The future financing of the Commission’s liabilities is met by 
grants from the Ministry of Justice voted on by Parliament 
annually under the relevant Appropriation Act. Parliament 
voted on the funding for 2009/10 on 18 June 2009.

n) Adoption of new Financial Reporting 
Standards (FRS)

As directed by the Treasury, in preparation for the 
introduction of International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) in 2009/10, the Commission adopted 
FRS 25 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, 
FRS 26 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement and FRS 29 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures, in 2008/09. This has required a change in 
accounting treatment of debtor valuation and related 
provisions. In line with Treasury guidance all revaluations 
have been taken to reserves. The prior year results have 
been restated accordingly as follows: 

Note 1 - Statement of accounting policies 
(continued)
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Balance Sheet

 CLS  CDS Total
 £000  £000  £000 

As previously reported at 31 March 2008  (433,371)  (538,887)  (972,258)

Net change to debtor valuation  1,267  3,134  4,401 

at 31 March 2008 restated  (432,104)  (535,753)  (967,857)

 
Debtors - fair value adjustment  (52,823)  (742)  (53,565)

Adjustment to impairment provision  54,090  3,876  57,966 

Net change to debtor valuation  1,267  3,134  4,401 

The adjustment to the impairment provision is the net adjustment following the cancellation of the bad debt provision 
and the creation of the impairment provision.

Note 2 - Operating income  

Restated
 2009 

 CLS 
 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Civil representation

Contributions by funded 
clients  16,240   -  16,240  23,160   -  23,160 

Costs recoverable  132,179   -  132,179  139,580   -  139,580 

Recoveries from damages and 
statutory charge  47,427   -  47,427  56,903   -  56,903 

 195,846   -  195,846  219,643   -  219,643 

Civil Legal Help

Grants and sundry income 
received from third parties   -   -   -  71   -  71 

Costs recoverable  58   -  58  1,150   -  1,150 

 58   -  58  1,221   -  1,221 

Criminal cases

Costs recoverable   -  116  116   -  65  65 

Recovery of defence costs 
orders   -  1,431  1,431   -  1,313  1,313 

  -  1,547  1,547   -  1,378  1,378 

195,904  1,547  197,451  220,864  1,378  222,242

Comparatives have been restated as explained in note 6.

Note 1 - Statement of accounting policies (continued)

Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service Notes to the financial statements (continued)



Legal Services Commission60

Financial reports 2008/09

Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Note 3 - Operating expenditure

 2009 
 CLS 

 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Civil representation

Solicitors’ charges, counsel fees and 
disbursements 803,141   - 803,141  769,976   -  769,976 

Refund of contributions 4,387   - 4,387  4,887   -  4,887 

Costs of successful unassisted parties 2,450   - 2,450  1,180   -  1,180 

Miscellaneous 12   - 12  460   -  460 

809,990   - 809,990 776,503   - 776,503

Release of provision on dormant cases  (179,649)   -  (179,649)  (350,000)   -  (350,000)

630,341   - 630,341  426,503   -  426,503 

Civil Legal Help

Solicitors’ charges, counsel fees and 
disbursements 163,272   - 163,272  151,319   -  151,319 

Direct services, grants and similar 24,990   - 24,990  24,566   -  24,566 

188,262   - 188,262  175,885   -  175,885 

Immigration and asylum

Solicitors’ charges, counsel fees and 
disbursements  83,593   -  83,593  75,873   -  75,873 

Public Immigration Legal Services  47   -  47  230   -  230 

Direct services, grants and similar  1,940   -  1,940  1,721   -  1,721 

 85,580   -  85,580  77,824   -  77,824 

Criminal cases

Solicitors’ charges, counsel fees and 
disbursements - Crime Higher   -  677,417  677,417   -  675,704  675,704 

Solicitors’ charges, counsel fees and 
disbursements - Crime Lower   -  485,451  485,451   -  464,475  464,475 

Public Defender Service   -  3,017  3,017   -  4,025  4,025 

Duty solicitor call service   -  9,709  9,709   -  7,489  7,489 

  -  1,175,594  1,175,594   -  1,151,693  1,151,693 

Impairment provision (note 10) 10,527  742 11,269  23,147  5,414  28,561 

 914,710  1,176,336 2,091,046  703,359  1,157,107  1,860,466

Figures for the Public Defender Service (PDS) and for the Public Immigration Legal Service (PILS) include the depreciation 
charge and loss on disposal for capital items. Note 4 shows the PDS and CLS fixed assets along with the amount 
provided for depreciation in the year.

Staff costs included within operating expenditure, together with the numbers employed are disclosed in note 2 of the 
accounts of the Legal Services Commission.
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Note 4 - Fixed assets

Community Legal Service

Furniture and 
equipment 

 Computer 
equipment  Total 

 £000  £000  £000 

Cost at 1 April 2008  12  38  50 

Additions   -   -   - 

Disposals   -  (6)  (6)

Cost at 31 March 2009  12  32  44 

Depreciation at 1 April 2008  4 24  28 

Charged in year  2  6  8 

Disposals   -  (4)  (4)

Depreciation at 31 March 2009  6  26  32 

 
Net book value at 31 March 2009  6  6  12 

Net book value at 31 March 2008  8  14  22

Criminal Defence Service

 Fixtures and 
fittings 

 Furniture and 
equipment 

 Computer 
equipment  Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 

Cost at 1 April 2008  934  117  352  1,403 

Additions   -   -  1  1 

Disposals  (49)   -  (92)  (141)

Cost at 31 March 2009 885 117 261 1,263

Depreciation at 1 April 2008  879  98  200  1,177 

Charged in year  34  10  45  89 

Disposals  (49)   -  (77)  (126)

Depreciation at 31 March 2009 864 108 168  1,140 

 
Net book value at 31 March 2009 21 9 93  123 

Net book value at 31 March 2008  55  19  152  226

All CDS assets relate to the Public Defender Service.

Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Note 5 - Operating deficit

 2009 
 CLS 

 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Operating deficit is stated after charging the following:
Operating leases  - 257 257  - 336 336

The administration costs of the Community Legal Service Fund and of the Criminal Defence Service are funded by a 
separate grant-in-aid. The grant-in-aid and the revenue expenditure of the Commission for the administration of the 
Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service, including charges for non-PDS leases and auditor’s 
remuneration, are accounted for in the Legal Services Commission financial statements.

Note 6 - Interest

Restated
 2009 

 CLS 
 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Interest receivable
Interest arising on statutory charges  11,468   -  11,468  14,763   -  14,763 

Interest paid
Interest surrendered to Legal Services 
Commission  (150)   -  (150)  (197)   -  (197)

As agreed with the MoJ excess deposit account interest is surrendered to the Legal Services Commission (see note 1l) 
This was previously included in recoveries from damages and statutory charge. Where appropriate comparatives have 
been restated to reflect this charge.

Note 7 - Other finance costs

 2009 
 CLS 

 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Discount on provisions  -  7  7  -  19  19

Note 8 - Analysis of net debt

 CLS  CDS  Total 
 £000  £000  £000 

Cash at bank and in hand

At 1 April 2008  3,031  1,007  4,038 

Cash flows  (107)  965  858 

At 31 March 2009  2,924  1,972  4,896 
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Note 9 - Debtors

Restated
 2009 

 CLS 
 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Contributions due from funded clients  26,507   -  26,507  26,391   -  26,391 

Costs to be recovered  13,878   -  13,878  16,566   -  16,566 

Statutory charge  199,538   -  199,538  214,466   -  214,466 

Damages  23,494   -  23,494  12,281   -  12,281 

Amounts due from service providers  69,306  6,418  75,724  82,644  5,608  88,252 

Recovery of defence costs orders   -  5,437  5,437   -  4,826  4,826 

 332,723  11,855  344,578  352,348  10,434  362,782 

Impairment provision (note 10) (120,407)  (5,068)  (125,475)  (130,509)  (4,461)  (134,970)

 212,316  6,787  219,103  221,839  5,973  227,812 

Under the Legal Aid Act 1974, the Legal Aid Act 1988 and the Access to Justice Act 1999, where funded clients have recovered 
or preserved property rather than obtaining damages, recoverable costs may be secured by a charge against the property. 
Simple interest of 12% was introduced in the year ended 31 March 1991 and was reduced to 10.5% with effect from 1 January 
1992 and further reduced to 8% from 1 September 1993. With effect from 1 April 2002 to 30 September 2005 the interest 
rate was set annually by reference to the Bank of England’s official rate at the time. Under the Community Legal Service 
(Financial) Regulations 2000 as amended by the Community Legal Service (Financial) (Amendment) Regulations 2005 the 
interest rate was set at 8% from 1 October 2005. A table of applicable Bank and interest rates is below.

 Bank of England rate  Interest rate 

1 April 2002 4.00% 5.00%

1 April 2003 3.75% 5.00%

1 April 2004 4.00% 5.00%

1 April 2005 to 30 September 2005 4.75% 5.00%

1 October 2005  n/a 8.00%

The gross amounts secured by a charge against property were:

Restated
 2009 

 CLS 
 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Statutory charge on damages  158,212   -  158,212  178,981   -  178,981 

Accrued interest to date  41,326   -  41,326  35,485   -  35,485 

 199,538   -  199,538  214,466   -  214,466

Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Debts secured by a charge may be deferred until the property has been sold. Most of the debts are most likely to be paid 
after one year however it is not possible to state what value is due for repayment in more than one year. 

There are no debts due from other central government bodies or other public sector bodies to disclose.

Debtors have been restated as set out in note 1 n).

Note 10 - Debt impairment provision

Restated
 2009 

 CLS 
 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

At 1 April 2008  130,509  4,461  134,970  176,209  3,013  179,222 

Debts written off (20,629)  (135)  (20,764)  (14,757)  (90)  (14,847)

Charge to income and  
expenditure account 10,527  742 11,269  23,147  5,414  28,561 

Prior year adjustment (note 1n))   -   -   -  (54,090)  (3,876)  (57,966)

At 31 March 2009  120,407  5,068  125,475  130,509  4,461  134,970 

Comparatives have been restated as set out in note 1n).

Note 11 - Creditors

 2009 
 CLS 

 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Amounts falling due within one year

Other creditors

Amounts due to solicitors, counsel 
and advice agencies  46,616  33,109  79,725  79,322  46,458  125,780 

Contribution refunds due to 
funded clients  991  -  991  -  -  - 

Amounts due to the Legal Services 
Commission  662  57  719  157  381  538 

Accruals and deferred income  2,317  -  2,317  827  -  827 

 50,586  33,166  83,752  80,306  46,839  127,145 

 
Amounts due to central government bodies

Other central government bodies  662  57  719  157  381  538 

Bodies external to government  49,924  33,109  83,033  80,149  46,458  126,607 

 50,586  33,166  83,752  80,306  46,839  127,145

Note 9 - Debtors (continued)
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Note 12 - Provisions for liabilities and charges

 CLS  CDS  Total 
 £000  £000  £000 

Provision for amounts outstanding on funded cases

At 1 April 2008  576,621  495,496  1,072,117 

Additions and increases to provision 1,050,006  1,162,868 2,212,874

Amounts used in the period (1,055,518)  (1,160,339) (2,215,857)

Unused amounts reversed in the period  (179,649)   -  (179,649)

At 31 March 2009  391,460  498,025  889,485 

Provision for dilapidations

At 1 April 2008   -  346  346 
Additions and increases to provision   -   -   - 
Amounts used in the period   -   -   - 
Unused amounts reversed in the period   -  (25)  (25)
Finance charges   -  7  7 

At 31 March 2009   -  328  328 

Provision for onerous contracts

At 1 April 2008  69  278  347 
Additions and increases to provision  47  30  77 
Amounts used in the period  (116)  (146)  (262)
Unused amounts reversed in the period   -   -   - 

At 31 March 2009   -  162  162 

At 31 March 2009  391,460  498,515  889,975 

At 31 March 2008  576,690  496,120  1,072,810

The Legal Services Commission estimates the value of unbilled live cases each year to arrive at the amounts disclosed 
within the accounts as a provision. The amount is an estimate of the expenditure required to settle any obligation at the 
balance sheet date following the requirements of FRS 12 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets.  
In estimating the provision, the Commission has adopted prudent measurement techniques based on the latest data 
available. Improved data capture techniques have been utilised in the Commission’s estimate for the current year.  
No income is anticipated for cases that may successfully recover costs.

Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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The dilapidations provision relates to leasehold premises occupied by the PDS. The costs are expected to be incurred 
between 2009 and 2019 as the leases expire.

Where the Commission has offices that it no longer operates from but is tied into a rental agreement a provision is made 
for the full future costs of those agreements for the shortfall in rent if no alternative occupier can be identified.

Note 13 - Income and expenditure reserve

 CLS  CDS  Total 
 £000  £000  £000 

At 1 April 2008  (433,371)  (538,887)  (972,258)

Prior Year Adjustment (note 1n)  1,267  3,134  4,401 

Retained deficit for the year  (707,488)  (1,174,796)  (1,882,284)

Grants received  912,798  1,187,750  2,100,548 

At 31 March 2009  (226,794)  (522,799)  (749,593)

Note 14 - Financial investment

 2009 
 CLS 

 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Interest received  5,627  -  5,627  7,760  -  7,760

Note 15 - Reconciliation of operating deficit to net operating cash flows

Restated
 2009 

 CLS 
 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Operating deficit (718,806)  (1,174,789) (1,893,595)  (482,495)  (1,155,729) (1,638,224)

Depreciation charges and profit 
and loss on disposals  10  104  114  8  252  260 

Decrease/(increase) in debtors  15,364  (814)  14,550  (1,191)  (374)  (1,565)

(Decrease)/increase in creditors  (29,720)  (13,673)  (43,393)  (3,485)  29,673  26,188 

(Decrease)/increase in provisions  (185,230)  2,388  (182,842)  (364,480)  (52,764)  (417,244)

Net cash outflow from operating 
activities  (918,382)  (1,186,784)  (2,105,166)  (851,643)  (1,178,942)  (2,030,585)

Comparatives have been restated as detailed in note 6.

Note 12 - Provisions for liabilities and charges (continued)
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Note 16 - Going concern

The balance sheet at 31 March 2009 shows an excess of liabilities over assets of £750m. 

The Chief Executive knows of no review of the Commission’s operations, other than that disclosed in note 24, or 
intention to suspend its activities or merge it with other bodies. It has accordingly been considered appropriate to adopt 
a going concern basis for the preparation of these financial statements.

Note 17 - Financial commitments

A provision is made for amounts outstanding on funded cases at the balance sheet date. The Commission recognises 
that there is a continuing obligation to fund cases past the balance sheet date but the amount of the liability is 
dependent on the future outcome of each case. It is estimated that this liability is in the order of £889m (31 March 
2008: £1,072m).

Note 18 - Contingent liability

The Commission is currently in discussions with HM Revenue and Customs in order to determine whether any 
corporation tax liability results from its activities. Whether there is a liability and how this should be calculated will 
depend on the outcome of these discussions.

 Note 19 - Commitments under operating leases

The Commission has annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

 2009 
 CLS 

 2009 
 CDS 

 2009 
 Total 

 2008 
 CLS 

 2008 
 CDS 

 2008 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year - land and 
buildings  -  41  41  -  -  - 

Within one year - other  -  5  5  -  4  4 

Between two and five years - land 
and buildings  -  57  57  -  51  51 

Between two and five years - other  -  8  8  -  16  16 

Over five years - land and buildings  -  79  79  -  252  252 

 -  190  190  -  323  323 

Operating leases shown in this note relate to the PDS.

Note 20 - Related party transactions

The Legal Services Commission is a non-departmental public body sponsored by the Ministry of Justice. The Ministry of 
Justice is regarded as a related party. During the year, the Commission had various material transactions with the 
Ministry of Justice. The Commission has also had various material transactions with Her Majesty’s Courts Service, an 
agency of the Ministry of Justice, relating to work provided by the Courts Service on behalf of the Commission.

The Commission has declared below any immediate connection between the Community Legal Service Fund or the 
Criminal Defence Service and Ministry of Justice ministers or their close family, or the organisations with which the ministers 

Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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or their close family are associated. During 2008/09, the Commission entered into a number of material transactions with 
some Commissioners, other related parties or their close family members. These transactions are also detailed below.

Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures relate to transactions in respect of funded work and do not reflect an 
individual’s earnings. The figures include payments on account and disbursements which may be payable to third parties 
and are stated inclusive of VAT, as this is a cost to the Commission. All transactions are for the period 1 April 2008 to  
31 March 2009 unless otherwise stated. The transactions do not include payments received indirectly (e.g. counsel fees 
claimed by the solicitors which they then pay to counsel). The transactions do not reflect annual earnings as they might 
include fees for work carried out in previous years but not billed until this financial year; they may also exclude fees for 
work carried out in 2008/09 but not yet billed.

Commissioners are required under the Code of Best Practice for Legal Services Commission Members to declare any 
personal, financial and business interests which may conflict with their duties on the Commission. Members may not 
participate in Commission discussions or decisions on policy or financial matters where a conflict of interest arises.

Ministry of Justice ministers and related parties

Jack Straw Adam Straw is a barrister who receives payments in respect of 
legal aid casework. Adam Straw is the nephew of Jack Straw, the 
Lord Chancellor and Secretary of State for Justice.

£27,225

Shahid Malik  
(from October 2008)

Khan solicitors is a legal services contracted firm of solicitors in 
which Sundus Malik is a trainee solicitor. Sundus Malik is married 
to Shahid Malik, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State.

£766,387  
4 October 2008  
to 31 March 2009

Commissioners and related parties

Carolyn Hamilton (1) The Children’s Legal Centre is a legal services contracted 
not-for-profit organisation of which Commissioner Carolyn 
Hamilton is a Director. 

£377,504

(2) Carolyn Hamilton is a barrister who receives payments in 
respect of legal aid casework.

£8,728

Jane Hickman Hickman and Rose is a legal services contracted firm of solicitors 
in which Jane Hickman is Managing Partner.

£1,396,812

Tom Jones OBE Geldards LLP is a legal services contracted firm of solicitors. Tom 
Jones’ son Owain Jones is a trainee lawyer at Geldards LLP.

£36,717

Dr David Wolfe David Wolfe is a barrister who receives payments in respect of 
legal aid casework.

£108,084

Chief Executive and related parties

Carolyn Regan Darbys solicitors LLP is a legal services contracted firm of solicitors 
in which, from March 2009, Andrew Regan is a solicitor. Andrew 
Regan is Carolyn Regan’s brother.

£188,868  
March 2009 only

Note 20 - Related party transactions (continued)
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Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Note 21 - Financial instruments

a) Carrying amount and fair values of financial 
assets and liabilities

Debtors have been discounted over the period from the 
balance sheet date to the expected date of collection.  
This has a material impact on their present value. To take 
account of this time value of money effect an estimation 
technique has been used that involves discounting all 
debtor balances over periods commensurate with historical 
cash flow patterns for each class of debt at a rate of 3.5% 
per annum (2008: 3.5% p.a.). The discount rate used is the 
cost of capital rate issued by the Treasury. The estimation 
technique used assumes that the timing of future cashflows 
will follow historical trends. Departures from these trends 
will result in changes to fair value but it is not possible to 
quantify this effect. In all cases, the carrying value of 
debtors is equal to their fair value. 

All other assets and liabilities have been accounted for at 
historical cost which due to the nature of these assets and 
liabilities is not materially different from fair value. 
Differences in the fair value of debtors arising from the 
application of this model over the financial year will be 
recognised within income.

b) Financial risk identification and management

The Commission’s financial risk management process seeks 
to enable the early identification, evaluation and effective 
management of key risks facing the Commission. Systems 
have been established to review and reflect changes in the 
legal aid market and the Commission’s activities. 

The CLS Fund and CDS is exposed to the following 
financial risks from its use of financial instruments:
- liquidity risk
- credit risk
- interest rate risk 

Liquidity risk

The Commission is financed by a grant received from the 
Ministry of Justice. As such it is not exposed to significant 
liquidity risks.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk comprises two primary elements:
1.  Interest price risk results from financial instruments 

bearing fixed interest rates. Changes in floating 
interest rates may affect the fair value of these fixed 
rate instruments. 

2.  Interest cash flow risk results from financial 
instruments bearing floating rates. Changes in floating 
interest rates affect cash flows on interest receivable 
or payable.

The commission is not exposed to significant interest 
price risk or interest cash flow risk. At 31 March 2009 
£99.3m (2008: £106.3m) of statutory charge debt was 
secured by land that charge carried a fixed rate of interest. 
Changes in floating interest rates do not affect the fair 
value of this debt.

Floating rate assets comprise interest bearing bank 
balances where interest rates move in relation to official 
market rates. 

Money received by the Community Legal Service Fund on 
behalf of funded clients is held on deposit until the case is 
concluded. Interest is paid to funded clients by reference 
to the London Inter Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR). To offset 
the interest payable, £18.8m of the total deposit account 
balance is held with Barclays Bank Plc and managed by 
Barclays Wealth Division through their Liquidity 
Management Service. The balance is held as cash. Funds 
are available at 24 hours’ notice. The rate earned by these 
instruments may fluctuate and differ from the rate paid 
out which is based on LIBOR. However, the short maturity 
period of the instruments limits any risk arising from 
adverse rates earned.

Sensitivity analysis

The fair value of land charge debt is deemed not to be 
directly affected by future interest rate changes. As such 
the fair value of land charge debt is unchanged by future 
interest rate changes. Future interest rate changes have 
no other impact on income or expenditure.

No impact is recorded in respect of changes in discount 
rates applied to financial instruments to record them at 
present value or employee benefits (including pensions). 
Staff costs included in operating expenditure are disclosed 
in note 2 of the accounts of the Legal Services Commission. 
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Foreign currency risk

The Commission presents its accounts in sterling.  
The Commission procures legal aid in England and Wales. 
Foreign currency would not usually form part of the 
Commission’s assets or liabilities and the Commission is 
not exposed to any significant foreign currency risks.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that counterparties to financial 
instruments do not perform according to the terms of the 
contract or instrument. The Commission is exposed to 
credit risk when dealing with funded clients, suppliers and 
from certain financing activities.

The immediate credit exposure of financial instruments is 
represented by those instruments that have a net positive 
fair value by counterparty at 31 March 09. The Commission 
considers its maximum exposure to credit risk to be:

2009 2008
£000  £000 

Credit risk

Cash at bank and in hand 4,896 4,038

Debtors 219,103 227,812

223,999 231,850

Third party assets 20,287 29,600

244,286 261,450

Cash balances are with strong investment grade banks or 
financial institutions.

As at 31 March 09 there were no financial guarantees or 
third party obligations other than amounts held as 
damages on deposit, that increased the credit risk of the 
financial assets set out above.

Though the Commission has seen no direct evidence of 
changes to the credit risk of its counterparties the current 
economic condition has increased financial volatility.

The Commission uses market knowledge and changes in 
credit ratings to identify significant changes to the 
financial profile of its counterparties.

Debtors

The majority of the Commissions debt (£199.5m out of a 
total exposure of £344.6m before impairment) is the 
result of a statutory charge and a high proportion of this 
is secured on property. The risk of non payment of this 
debt is low. Other debts carry a significant impairment 
provision.

The Commission provides for impairment of financial 
assets based on known events and makes a collective 
provision for losses yet to be identified, based on historic 
data. The majority of the provision is estimated based on 
historic events.

Cash

Banks are selected for their credit status and their ability 
to meet the Commission’s day-to-day banking 
requirements. The credit ratings are monitored on a 
continuing basis. The Commission has not recorded 
impairments against cash or cash equivalents, nor have 
any recoverability issues been identified with such 
balances, including third party assets. Such items are 
typically recoverable on demand or in line with normal 
banking arrangements.

Borrowing facilities

The Commission is not empowered to borrow money. 

Note 21 - Financial Instruments (continued)
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Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Note 22 - Third party assets

The Commission holds awards for damages on behalf of funded clients as explained in note 1 l).   

31 March 2008  Gross inflows  Gross outflows  31 March 2009 
£000  £000  £000  £000 

Third party assets 29,600  3,846  (13,159)  20,287

The Commission receives awarded damages awaiting the final settlement of a case. The assets held at the balance sheet 
date comprise pooled investment funds and cash and building society deposits as follows:

 31 March 
2009  31 March 2008 

 £000  £000 

Cash  1,450  848 

Building Society deposits  4,790  10,415 

Pooled investment funds  14,047  18,337 

 20,287  29,600 

Note 23 - Accountability notes

Losses statement

There were 7,343 (2008: 5,849) cases involving losses totalling £20.8m (2008: £14.8m). In accordance with Managing 

Public Money losses over £250,000 are separately disclosed. There were four supplier balances written off over 
£250,000. The balances were £259,569, £282,137, £385,547 and £512,174. The suppliers are now either bankrupt or 
cannot be traced by the Commission. The debts arose from the normal course of business and represent payments on 
account for which claims or bills have not been submitted. There were two funded client balances written off over 
£250,000 the balances being £762,111 and £466,282. The funded client cases related to revoked cases that are now 
statute barred. 

Under the terms of the Unified Contract agreed with the Law Society in April 2008, in respect of historic cases as 
defined in the contract, providers can opt to accept payments on account (POA) as the final bill without providing 
further documentation. As there is no supporting documentation these payments are deemed to be a loss to the 
Commission. All of these payments on account have been accounted for in prior year accounts. The total payments on 
account opted as final bills under the agreement was £24m. Before the Unified Contract the Commission would have 
expected a proportion of these POAs to be repaid. No case started after April 2002 is affected by this agreement. The 
commission estimates that approximately 50% of the cases expected to be closed through the unified contract 
agreement have been processed at 31 March 2009.
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Note 24 - Post balance sheet events

In accordance with the requirements of FRS 21, post 
balance sheet events are considered up to the date on 
which the accounts are authorised for issue. This is 
interpreted as the date of the Certificate and Report of 
the Comptroller and Auditor General.

There are no post balance sheet events to report.

On the 13 October 2009 the Ministry of Justice 
announced a review into the delivery of legal aid.

The review is to ensure that the money spent on legal aid 
every year is delivering best value for money, providing a 
healthy and sustainable future for social welfare law and 
effectively integrating the criminal defence service with 
the criminal justice system.

To conduct the review, the government has invited Sir Ian 
Magee to assess the delivery and governance 
arrangements of the legal aid system. Sir Ian Magee will 
report back to government in January 2010.
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I certify that I have audited the financial statements of 
the Legal Services Commission for the year ended  
31 March 2009 under the Access to Justice Act 1999. 
These comprise the Income and Expenditure Account, the 
Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and Statement 
of Recognised Gains and Losses and the related notes. 
These financial statements have been prepared under the 
accounting policies set out within them. I have also 
audited the information in the Remuneration Report that 
is described in that report as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of the 
Commission, Accounting Officer 
and auditor
The Commission and Chief Executive as Accounting 
Officer are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, 
which includes the Remuneration Report, and the 
financial statements in accordance with the Access to 
Justice Act 1999 and directions made there under by the 
Secretary of State and Lord Chancellor with the approval 
of HM Treasury and for ensuring the regularity of financial 
transactions. These responsibilities are set out in the 
Statement of the Responsibilities of the Accounting 
Officer and of the Commission. 

My responsibility is to audit the financial statements and 
the part of the remuneration report to be audited in 
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements, and with International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

I report to you my opinion as to whether the financial 
statements give a true and fair view and whether the 
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration 
Report to be audited have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Access to Justice Act 1999 and 
directions made there under by the Secretary of State and 
Lord Chancellor with the approval of HM Treasury. I report 
to you whether, in my opinion, the information, which 
comprises the Management Commentary, included in the 
Annual Report is consistent with the financial statements.  
I also report whether in all material respects the 
expenditure and income have been applied to the purposes 

intended by Parliament and the financial transactions 
conform to the authorities which govern them. 

In addition, I report to you if the Commission has not kept 
proper accounting records, if I have not received all the 
information and explanations I require for my audit, or if 
information specified by HM Treasury regarding 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

I review whether the Statement on Internal Control 
reflects Commission’s compliance with HM Treasury’s 
guidance, and I report if it does not. I am not required to 
consider whether this statement covers all risks and 
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Commission’s corporate governance procedures or its risk 
and control procedures.

I read the other information contained in the Annual 
Report and consider whether it is consistent with the 
audited financial statements. This other information 
comprises the sections headed comprises, the sections 
headed “Legal aid fair access to justice”, “Year in focus”, 
“Our Performance”, the unaudited part of the 
Remuneration Report and the Chair and Chief Executive’s 
review. I consider the implications for my report if I 
become aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with the financial statements. My 
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinions
I conducted my audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the 
Auditing Practices Board. My audit includes examination, 
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts, 
disclosures and regularity of financial transactions 
included in the financial statements and the part of the 
Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an 
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments 
made by the Commission and Accounting Officer in the 
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether 
the accounting policies are most appropriate to the 
Commission’s circumstances, consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed.

Certificate and report of the Comptroller and 
Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament 
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I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which I considered 
necessary in order to provide me with sufficient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error, and that in all material respects the 
expenditure and income have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern 
them. In forming my opinion I also evaluated the overall 
adequacy of the presentation of information in the 
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration 
Report to be audited.

Opinions
In my opinion: 

the financial statements give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with the Access to Justice Act 1999 and 
directions made there under by the Secretary of State 
and Lord Chancellor with the approval of HM Treasury, 
of the state of Commission’s affairs as at 31 March 
2009 and of its deficit, recognised gains and losses and 
cash flows for the year then ended; 

the financial statements and the part of the 
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Access to Justice Act 
1999 and directions made there under by the Secretary 
of State and Lord Chancellor with the approval of HM 
Treasury; and

information, which comprises the Management 
Commentary, included within the Annual Report, is 
consistent with the financial statements.

Opinion on Regularity
In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and 
income have been applied to the purposes intended by 
Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the 
authorities which govern them. 

Report
I have no observations to make on these financial 
statements. 

Amyas Morse  
Comptroller and Auditor General
National Audit Office 
151 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London SWIW 9SS
     October 2009
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Legal Services Commission 
Income and expenditure account
For the year ended 31 March 2009

2009  2,008 

Note  £000  £000 

Other operating income 11  99  257 

Employment costs 2, 3  (68,199)  (62,131)

Depreciation 5  (3,665)  (2,938)

Other operating charges 6  (52,807)  (51,381)

Operating deficit 7  (124,572)  (116,193)

Interest receivable and similar income 8  1,036  1,649 

Interest payable and similar charges 9  (886)  (1,427)

Other finance costs 10  2  587 

Non operating income 11   -  1,920 

Cost of capital charge 1 f)  (268)  250 

Deficit for the year (124,688)  (113,214)

Reversal of cost of capital charge 1 f)  268  (250)

Retained deficit for the year 16  (124,420)  (113,464)

All operations are continuing.

The notes on pages 79 to 97 form part of these financial statements.
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Legal Services Commission 
Statement of recognised gains and losses
For the year ended 31 March 2009

2009  2008 

Note  £000  £000 

Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in the pension scheme 3, 16 (3,534)  12,451 

Recognised losses and gains for the financial year (3,534)  12,451

The notes on pages 79 to 97 form part of these financial statements.
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Legal Services Commission 
Balance sheet
At 31 March 2009

2009  2008 

Note  £000  £000 

Fixed assets 5 15,848 10,943

Current assets

Debtors 14 3,148 3,937

Cash at bank and in hand 13 12,055 5,997

15,203 9,934

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (14,757) (7,935)

Net current assets 446 1,999

Total assets less current liabilities 16,294 12,942

Provision for liabilities and charges 20 (3,024) (4,023)

Net assets excluding pension liability 13,270 8,919

Pension liability 3 (5,333) (1,568)

Net assets including pension liability 7,937 7,351

Capital and reserves

Income and expenditure reserve 16 7,937 7,351

7,937 7,351

Carolyn Regan 
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
20 October 2009

The notes on pages 79 to 97 form part of these financial statements.
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Legal Services Commission 
Cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 2008

Note  £000  £000 

Net cash outflow from operating activities 12 (114,486)  (129,245)

Non operating income 12  -  1,920 

Returns on investments and servicing of finance 12 150  222 

Capital expenditure 12 (8,146)  (5,429)

Financing - grant-in-aid capital 16 8,615  5,429 

Financing - grant-in-aid revenue 16 119,925  124,567 

Increase/(decrease) in cash 13 6,058  (2,536)

The notes on pages 79 to 97 form part of these financial statements.
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Note 1 - Statement of accounting policies

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
the Treasury’s Government Financial Reporting Manual and 
applicable accounting standards. They are in a form as 
directed by the Secretary of State for Justice and Lord 
Chancellor with the approval of the Treasury subject to a 
change in accounting policy detailed in note 1n) below.  
The financial statements are presented in sterling, rounded 
to the nearest thousand.

a) Accounting convention

The accounts are prepared under the historical cost 
convention. The impact of revaluing the Commissions fixed 
assets using modified historical cost accounting was found 
to be immaterial, therefore modified historical cost 
accounting has not been adopted. This complies with 
Treasury guidance. Without limiting the information given, 
the accounts meet the accounting and disclosure 
requirements of the Companies Act and accounting 
standards issued by the Accounting Standards Board so far 
as those requirements are relevant. The accounts are also 
consistent, where appropriate, with generally accepted 
accounting practice in the United Kingdom (UK GAAP).

b) Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are carried at their valuation in use. 
Depreciated historical costs are used as a proxy for current 
value of non-property assets because the assets have short 
economic useful lives. Assets costing more than the 
prescribed capitalisation level of £1,000 (2008: £1,000) are 
treated as capital assets. Where an item costs less than the 
prescribed limit but forms part of an asset or grouped asset 
whose total value is greater than the capitalisation level, 
the item is treated as a capital asset. Assets purchased and 
brought into service within the same year are disclosed as 
additions. Where an asset under construction is brought 
forward from a prior year and brought in to serve in the 
current year, it is then disclosed as a transfer from assets 
under construction.

c) Depreciation

Except for assets under construction depreciation is 
provided on all fixed assets on a straight line basis to write 
off the cost of tangible fixed assets over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:
Fixtures and fittings 5 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years
Computer equipment  3 to 5 years

Assets under construction are not depreciated until they 
have been completed. On completion assets are 
transferred to their relevant category and depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives.

d) Other operating income

Other operating income comprises receipts authorised by 
the Ministry of Justice to be treated as income.

e) Grant-in-aid

Grant-in-aid receivable for revenue purposes or for the 
acquisition of general fixed assets is accounted for as 
financing and credited directly to the income and 
expenditure reserve.

f) Financing charges

Costs of capital

As required by the Treasury, a charge is made to the 
income and expenditure account for the notional cost of 
capital. The notional capital charge, which reflects the 
cost of financing capital employed, is calculated at 3.5% 
(2008: 3.5%) of average net assets employed during the 
year. In accordance with Treasury guidance the notional 
charge is reversed out of the income and expenditure 
account before determining the retained surplus or deficit 
for the year.

Legal Services Commission 
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Interest

The Commission also receives interest on bank balances 
and on third party deposit accounts for funded clients. 
Bank interest is paid over to the Ministry of Justice; excess 
interest on deposit accounts for funded clients is retained 
as agreed with the Ministry of Justice. The receipts and 
payments are shown in ‘interest receivable and similar 
income’ and ‘interest payable and similar charges’ 
respectively in the income and expenditure account.

g) Operating leases

The costs of operating leases are charged to the income 
and expenditure account as they fall due.

h) Leased assets

The Commission does not currently hold any assets under 
finance leases.

i) Provisions

A provision is recognised when an obligation (whether 
legal or constructive) arises as a result of a past event, and 
when it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit 
will be required to settle the obligation and that it can be 
reliably estimated. 

j) Cash & cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank and cash 
balances. All bank balances are held with commercial 
bodies.

k) Accounting for value added tax

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or, if appropriate, capitalised with additions to 
fixed assets. Income and expenditure is otherwise shown 
net of VAT.

l) Pensions

The Commission operates two pension schemes providing 
benefits based on pensionable salary. The assets of the 
schemes are held separately from those of the 
Commission.

The increase in the present value of the liabilities of the 
Commission’s defined benefit pension schemes expected 
to arise from employee service is charged to the operating 
deficit. The expected return on the schemes’ assets and the 

increase during the period in the present value of the 
schemes’ liabilities arising from the passage of time are 
included under ‘other finance costs’ in the income and 
expenditure account. Actuarial gains and losses are 
recognised in the statement of recognised gains and losses.

m) Going concern

The Legal Services Commission is a statutory body 
established under the Access to Justice Act 1999. The 
Commission is charged with the responsibility for managing 
and accounting for the Community Legal Service Fund and 
the Criminal Defence Service both of which are legal aid 
schemes provided for under the Access to Justice Act 1999. 
The Commission takes the view that the going concern 
concept applies as long as the provisions of the Access to 
Justice Act 1999 remain extant.

The future financing of the Commission’s activities is met 
by grant-in-aid from the Ministry of Justice voted by 
Parliament annually under the relevant Appropriation Act. 
Parliament voted on the funding for 2009/10 on the  
18 June 2009.   

n) Adoption of new Financial Reporting 
Standards (FRS)

As directed by the Treasury, in preparation for the 
introduction of International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) in 2009/10, the Commission adopted 
FRS 25 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, 
FRS 26 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement and FRS 29 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures, in 2008/09. This has required a change in 
accounting treatment of debtor valuation and related 
provisions. All debtors existing at 31 March 2009 are 
repayable within one year. The book value on these 
debtors are valued to be the same as the fair value and 
there have been no adjustments due to the adoption of 
these standards.
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Note 2 - Employment costs 

Permanently  
employed  

staff Other  2009

Permanently 
employed  

staff Other  2008 
 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Aggregate payroll costs were as follows:

Salaries and wages 44,327 7,569 51,896  42,971  5,328 48,299

Social security costs 3,782 238 4,020  3,834  220 4,054

Other pension costs 9,467  - 9,467  8,399  - 8,399

57,576 7,807 65,383 55,204 5,548 60,752

Less recoveries in respect of 
outward secondments (76)  - (76)  (122)  -  (122)

Redundancy 2,518  - 2,518  1,119  -  1,119 

60,018 7,807 67,825 56,201 5,548 61,749

Commissioners’ costs:

Fees to non-executives 348  -  348  350  - 350

Social security costs 26  -  26  32  - 32

374  -  374  382  -  382 

60,392 7,807 68,199 56,583 5,548 62,131

Other pension costs are the total operating charges relating to the pension schemes. Costs can be incurred by both 
permanent and non-permanent employees of the Commission.

Fees to non-executives include reimbursement of travel expenses from home to office and taxation paid by the 
Commission on these expenses.

Additional detail about the Executive Team and non-executive Commissioners’ remuneration is included in the 
remuneration report.

The average number of full-time equivalent persons employed during the year was as follows:

Permanently  
employed  

staff Other 2009

Permanently 
employed 

staff Other  2008 

Change Programme  187  73  260  145  37  182 

Service Delivery  1,046  150  1,196  1,055  161  1,216 

Corporate Services  198  27  225  196  20  216 

 1,431  250  1,681  1,396  218  1,614 

Commissioners  9  -  9  10  -  10 

 1,440  250  1,690  1,406  218  1,624 
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Expenditure for the Public Defender Service (PDS) and Criminal Defence Service (CDS) Direct is recorded within the 
Criminal Defence Service accounts; expenditure of the Community Legal Advice team formerly Community Legal Service 
Direct, and Other Projects is included in the CLS accounts as part of direct services, grants and similar. To fully disclose 
the Commission’s staff costs and numbers, a breakdown of the PDS, CDS Direct, Community Legal Advice and Other 
Projects staff costs is given below.

PDS and CDS Direct

Permanently  
employed  

staff Other 2009

Permanently 
employed 

staff Other  2008 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000  £000 

Aggregate payroll costs were as follows:

Salaries and wages 1  1,765  27  1,792  1,765  74  1,839 

Social security costs  145  -  145  197  7  204 

Other pension costs  268   -  268  396   -  396 

2,178 27 2,205 2,358 81 2,439

Less recoveries in respect of 
outward secondments  (39)   -  (39)   -   -   - 

Redundancy 221   - 221   -   -   - 

 2,360  27  2,387  2,358  81  2,439 

The average number of full-time equivalent persons employed within the PDS and CDS Direct during the year was as 
follows:      

Permanently  
employed  

staff Other 2009

Permanently 
employed  

staff Other  2008 

PDS  55  1  56  59  1  60 

CDS Direct  1  1  2  1  1  2 

 56  2  58  60  2  62 

Legal Services Commission Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1 PDS and CDS Direct, and CLS salaries and wages cost for 2008 have been restated to exclude pension costs.
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Note 2 - Employment costs (continued)

Community Legal Advice and Other Projects

Permanently  
employed  

staff Other 2009

Permanently 
employed 

staff Other  2008 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000  £000 

Aggregate payroll costs were as follows:

Salaries and wages 1  1,080  166  1,246  817  152  969 

Social security costs  87  -  87  79  -  79 

Other pension costs  167  -  167  184  -  184 

 1,334  166  1,500  1,080  152  1,232 

The average number of full-time equivalent persons employed within the Community Legal Advice and Other Projects 
team during the year was as follows:      

Permanently  
employed  

staff Other 2009

Permanently 
employed 

staff Other  2008 

Community Legal Advice 
and Other Projects  19  5  24  21  6  27 

Note 3 - Pension costs

The Legal Services Commission operates two pension schemes, the No. 4 Scheme and the No. 3 Scheme, providing 
benefits based on final pensionable salary. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Commission, 
being invested in funds managed by Legal & General Investment Management Limited. Contributions to the schemes 
are charged to the income and expenditure account so as to spread the cost of the pensions over employees’ working 
lives with the Commission. The contributions are set by the Trustees having taken advice from the Schemes Actuary 
(Hymans Robertson LLP) on the basis of biennial valuations. The most recent formal valuations were as at 31 March 
2008. The assumptions have been updated to ensure the valuation is in line with the requirements of FRS 17 for the 
current year disclosure.

Pension scheme assets are measured using market values. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit 
method and discounted at the rate currently fixed at 3.0% p.a. (2008: 2.5%) in excess of expected future price inflation. 
Long dated AA rated corporate bonds have been used to set the discount rate this year. A degree of subjectivity was 
required to set the discount rate due to the varying spread of yields in the light of the current economic conditions. 

1 PDS and CDS Direct, and CLS salaries and wages cost for 2008 have been re-stated to exclude pension costs.  
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The Legal Services Commission Staff Pension and Assurance Scheme (No. 4)

A full actuarial valuation of the Scheme was carried out at 31 March 2008 by qualified independent actuaries  
Hymans Robertson LLP.

The Commission made an advanced payment of £6m into the No 4 Scheme in 2009. Under the terms of this special 
contribution agreement, the Commission’s contribution for the following year will be reduced. The Commission also paid 
£3.1m to the Scheme, to cover the cost of 16 benefit improvements under the terms of the early retirement and early 
severance scheme.  

The Commission expects to contribute about £1.5m to this defined benefit pension scheme in the period to  
31 March 2010.

The Legal Services Commission Staff Pension and Assurance Scheme (No. 3)

A full actuarial valuation of the Scheme was carried out at 31 March 2008 by qualified independent actuaries Hymans 
Robertson LLP.

The Scheme is closed to new entrants and there are no active members. The Commission did not contribute to the 
scheme in the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009 (2008: nil).

The major assumptions used by the actuary were (in nominal terms):

No. 4 Scheme No. 3 Scheme No. 4 Scheme No. 3 Scheme
2009 2009 2008 2008

Discount rate 6.50% p.a. 6.50% p.a. 6.00% p.a. 6.00% p.a.

Rate of increase in salaries 4.50% p.a.  n/a  5.00% p.a.  n/a 

Deferred pension increases before retirement 3.50% p.a. 3.50% p.a.  3.50% p.a. 3.50% p.a.

Rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.50% p.a. 3.50% p.a.  3.50% p.a.  3.50% p.a. 

Inflation assumption 3.50% p.a.  3.50% p.a.  3.50% p.a.  3.50% p.a. 

Future life expectancies

The future life expectancies below are based on the 2009 post retirement mortality assumptions used for both schemes, 
namely standard actuarial tables 110% of PNMA00 for males and 110% of PNFA00 for females with an allowance for 
long cohort improvement (mortality rates are subject to a 1% underpin for annual improvements from 2008 onwards).

Males 
Years

Females 
Years

Males 
Years

Females 
Years

2009 2009 2008 2008

Future life expectancy for a pensioner  
aged 60 at 31 March 27.7 30.4 29.1 32.6

Future life expectancy at age 60 for a non 
pensioner aged 45 at 31 March 29.4 31.9 30.8 34.3

Note 3 - Pension costs (continued)
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The expected rate of return and market values of the assets of the No. 4 Pension Scheme at 31 March 2009 were as follows:

Expected  
long-term rate  

of return at  
31 March 2009

Value at  
31 March  

2009

Expected 
long-term rate  

of return at  
31 March 2008

Value at  
31 March  

2008
% £000 % £000 

No. 4 Pension Scheme 
Market value of assets

Equities 7.2% 92,139 7.5% 99,779

Gilts and cash 4.2% 78,183 4.5% 93,327

Insured pensioners 6.5% 9,937 6.0% 11,380

Total market value of assets 180,259  204,486 

Actuarial value of liabilities (185,592) (206,054)

Deficit in the Scheme (5,333)  (1,568)

Related deferred tax liability n/a  n/a 

Net pension liability (5,333)  (1,568)

The expected rate of return and market values of the assets of the No. 3 Pension Scheme at 31 March were as follows:

Expected 
long-term 

rate of return 
2009

Value at  
31 March 

2009

Expected 
long-term rate 
of return 2008

Value at  
31 March  

2008
% £000 %  £000 

No. 3 Pension Scheme 
Market value of assets

Equities 7.2% 821 7.5% 986

Gilts and cash 4.2% 1,948 4.5% 2,273

Insured pensioners 6.5% 743 6.0% 599

Total market value of assets 3,512 3,858

Actuarial value of liabilities (3,065)  (3,748)

Surplus in the Scheme 447  110 

Irrecoverable Surplus * (447)  (110)

Related deferred tax liability n/a  n/a

Net pension liability -  -

* The surplus on the scheme is only recoverable to the extent that the Legal Services Commission can benefit from 
either refunds formally agreed or future contribution reductions.

      

Note 3 - Pension costs (continued)
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Pension scheme costs charged to operating costs include:

No. 4 
Scheme 

2009

No. 3 
Scheme 

2009 

No. 4 
Scheme 

2008

No. 3 
Scheme 

2008
£000  £000  £000  £000 

Current service cost 6,915  -  7,489  - 

Past service charge 2,552  -  910  - 

LSC - Operating charge 9,467  -  8,399  - 

CLS and PDS - Operating charge 436  -  580  -

9,903  -  8,979  -

The CLS and PDS operating charge is recognised in the Community Legal Service Fund and Criminal Defence Service 
accounts.

Analysis of amounts charged to other finance income

No. 4 
Scheme 

2009

No. 3 
Scheme 

2009 

No. 4 
Scheme 

2008

No. 3 
Scheme 

2008
£000  £000  £000  £000 

Expected return on Scheme assets 12,409 204 11,090 183

Interest on Scheme liabilities (12,571)  (216)  (10,595)  (183)

Net return (162)  (12)  495   -

Analysis of amount recognised in the statement of recognised gains and losses.

No. 4 
Scheme 

2009

No. 3 
Scheme 

2009

No. 4 
Scheme 

2008

No. 3 
Scheme 

2008
 £000  £000  £000  £000 

Actual return less expected return on Scheme assets (44,073)  (246)  (5,757)  (57)

Experience gains and losses arising on Scheme liabilities 4,619  113   -   - 

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the 
Scheme liabilities 35,908  483  18,208  (113)

(Decrease)/increase in irrecoverable surplus  -  (338)   -  170 

Actuarial (loss)/gain included in the statement of recognised 
gains and losses (3,546)  12  12,451   - 

Cumulative actuarial loss (41,817)  (19)  (38,271)  (31)

Note 3 - Pension costs (continued)
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Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation

No. 4 
Scheme 

2009

No. 3 
Scheme 

2009

No. 4 
Scheme 

2008

No. 3 
Scheme 

2008
£000  £000  £000  £000 

The movement in the liabilities during the year arose as follows:

Liabilities at beginning of year (206,054)  (3,748)  (206,500)  (3,782)

Current service cost - LSC (6,915)   -  (7,489)   - 

Current service cost - CLS and PDS (436)   -  (580)   - 

Interest cost (12,571)  (216)  (10,595)  (183)

Benefits accrued in respect of contributions by plan 
participants (2,578)   -  (2,483)   - 

Actuarial gains/(losses) 40,527  596  18,208  (113)

Past service cost (2,552)   -  (910)   - 

Benefits paid 4,987  303  4,295  330 

Liabilities at end of year (185,592)  (3,065)  (206,054)  (3,748)

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

No. 4 
Scheme 

2009

No. 3 
Scheme 

2009

No. 4 
Scheme 

2008

No. 3 
Scheme 

2008
£000  £000  £000  £000 

The movement in the assets during the year arose as follows:

Assets at beginning of year 204,486 3,858 177,492 4,062 

Expected return on assets 12,409 204 11,090 183 

Contributions by plan participants 2,578   - 2,483   - 

Contributions by the Commission 9,846   -  23,473   - 

Actuarial losses (44,073)  (246)  (5,757)  (57)

Benefits paid (4,987)  (303)  (4,295)  (330)

Assets at end of year 180,259  3,512  204,486  3,858 

Note 3 - Pension costs (continued)
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The No. 4 Pension Scheme history of experience gains and losses over the period 1 April 2005 to 31 March 2009 were as 
follows:

No. 4 
Scheme 

2009

No. 4 
Scheme 

2008

No. 4 
Scheme 

2007

No. 4 
Scheme 

2006

No. 4 
Scheme 

2005
£000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Fair value of plan assets 180,259  204,486  177,492  155,354  118,708 

Present value of defined benefit obligation (185,592)  (206,054)  (206,500)  (165,687)  (145,049)

Deficit (5,333)  (1,568)  (29,008)  (10,333)  (26,341)

Experience adjustments on scheme assets

Amount  (44,073)  (5,757)  348  16,930  1,606 

Percentage of Scheme assets (24.4)% (2.8)% 0.2% 10.9% 1.4%

 
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities

Amount 4,619   -  11,252   -  2,754 

Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities 2.5%   - 5.4%   - 1.9%

 
Total actuarial gains/(losses) on obligation

Amount  40,527  18,208  (27,248)  (8,960)  (18,077)

Percentage of present value of Scheme liabilities 21.8% 8.9% (13.2)% (5.4)% (12.5)%

There was one early retirement (2008: one) on grounds of ill health.

Note 3 - Pension costs (continued)



Annual Report and Accounts 2008/09 89

Legal Services Commission Notes to the financial statements (continued)

The No. 3 Pension Scheme history of experience gains and losses over the period 1 April 2005 to 31 March 2009 were as 
follows:

No. 3  
Scheme  

2009

No. 3 
Scheme 

2008

No. 3 
Scheme 

2007 

No. 3 
Scheme 

2006

No. 3 
Scheme 

2005
£000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Fair value of plan assets 3,512  3,858  4,062  4,149  3,724 

Present value of defined benefit obligation (3,065)  (3,748)  (3,782)  (4,255)  (3,997)

Surplus/(deficit) 447  110  280  (106)  (273)

Experience adjustments on scheme assets

Amount (246)  (57)  (140)  408  (101)

Percentage of Scheme assets (7.0)% (1.5)% (3.4)% 9.8% (2.7)%

 
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities 

Amount 113   -  643   -  891 

Percentage of the present value of  
Scheme liabilities 3.7%  - 17.0%  - 22.3%

 
Total actuarial gains/(losses) on obligation 

Amount 596  (113)  345  (425)  585 

Percentage of the present value of Scheme 
liabilities 19.4% (3.0)% 9.1% (10.0)% 14.6%

 
Liability and insured pension sensitivity at 31 March 2009 to changes in key assumptions

The table below shows the sensitivity of the liability and insured pensions for both schemes as at 31 March 2009 to 
changes in key assumptions. These figures have been calculated in a consistent manner to the rest of the figures in this 
note. The changes are considered in isolation.

(Increase)/decrease to  
value of liabilities

Increase/(decrease) to  
value of insured pensions

Changes in assumptions No 4 Scheme No 3 Scheme No 4 Scheme No 3 Scheme
£000  £000  £000  £000 

Discount rate increases by 0.25% p.a. 9,900 71 (200) (11)

Rate of pay escalation increases by 0.25% p.a. (2,200)  No Change  No Change  No Change

Pension increases and deferred pension 
increases increase by 0.25% p.a. (7,800) (61)  No Change  No Change

Life expectancy at age 60 increases by 1 year (5,200) (158) 400 40

Note 3 - Pension costs (continued)
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Note 4 - Reconciliation of fixed asset additions to capital expenditure

2009  2008 
£000  £000 

Payments to acquire fixed assets 8,146  5,429 

Accruals 469  - 

Fixed Asset additions 8,615  5,429

Note 5 - Fixed assets

Tangible assets
Assets under 
construction 

Fixtures and 
fittings

Furniture and 
equipment

Computer 
equipment Total

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Cost at 1 April 2008 6,632 6,063 2,780 4,605 20,080

Additions 4,205 1,930 1,179 1,301 8,615

Disposals  - (2,381) (1,177) (461) (4,019)

Transfers (8,698) 2,368 268 6,062   - 

Cost at 31 March 2009 2,139 7,980 3,050 11,507 24,676

 
Depreciation at 1 April 2008   - 3,698 1,735 3,704 9,137

Charged in year  -  1,437  533  1,695 3,665

Disposals  - (2,365) (1,153) (456) (3,974)

Depreciation at 31 March 2009  - 2,770 1,115 4,943 8,828

 
Net book value at 31 March 2009 2,139 5,210 1,935 6,564 15,848

Net book value at 31 March 2008 6,632 2,365 1,045 901 10,943
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Note 6 - Other operating charges

 2009  2008 
 £000  £000 

Rent, rates and insurance 7,066  6,721 

Maintenance, heating, lighting and dilapidation charge 4,945  3,452 

Office machinery expenditure and maintenance 1,959  2,015 

Office supplies, printing and stationery 716  1,049 

Publicity 365  327 

Managed facility - outsourced contracts 2,589  1,778 

Postage and telephone 3,072  2,526 

File assessment and peer review 1,733  2,481 

Legal and professional charges 4,908  4,499 

Research and development 419  475 

Contribution recovery costs 213  113 

Audit fee 250  157 

Computer contractors 2,245  2,713 

Security service and contracts 512  1,073 

Staff recruitment and development 817  1,332 

Payroll contract 129  125 

Travelling, subsistence and committee members’ attendance fees 2,549  2,669 

Conferences and courses 1,002  1,195 

Land Registry charges 310  250 

Ex gratia payments and other similar charges 35  95 

HMCS service charge - Crime Higher 5,944  7,520 

HMCS service charge - Transfer of Grant 10,985  8,810 

Loss on disposal and write down of fixed assets 44  6 

52,807  51,381 

The HMCS service charge is incurred under a service level agreement. The Legal Services Commission compensates 
HMCS for administrative costs incurred in providing legal aid services in the higher criminal courts and for means 
assessment work in the lower courts (Crime Higher and Transfer of Grant).

Ex gratia payments are amounts paid to individuals claiming that mistakes were made by the Commission in dealing 
with their cases. Further disclosure is found in note 24 to these accounts.
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Note 7 - Operating deficit

 2009  2008 
 £000  £000 

Operating deficit is stated after charging the following:

Operating leases 5,422 5,814

Auditor remuneration - current year 236 146

Auditor remuneration - prior year 14 11

Auditor remuneration for 2009 includes £19,000 of costs relating to the IFRS conversion of the Commission’s 31 March 
2008 balance sheet.

Note 8 - Interest receivable and similar income

 2009  2008 
 £000  £000 

Interest from CLS Fund and CDS  150  197 

Other  886  1,452 

Interest receivable and similar income 1,036  1,649

Note 9 - Interest payable and similar charges

 2009  2008 
 £000  £000 

Interest payable and similar charges 886  1,427 

The interest payable and receivable figures for 2009 is inclusive of £871,418 of interest that was paid over to the Ministry 
of Justice.

Note 10 - Other finance costs

 2009  2008 
 £000  £000 

Discount on provisions (note 20)  (176)  (92)

Return on Pension Scheme No. 4 (note 3)  162  (495)

Return on Pension Scheme No. 3 (note 3)  12   - 

 (2)  (587)
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Note 11 - Income

Other operating income

 2009  2008 
 £000  £000 

Other operating income  99  257 

The income received in 2009 mainly relates to income from conferences. Operating income can also include grants from 
third parties and other miscellaneous receipts.

Non operating income

Statutory compensation of £1,920,000 was received by the Legal Services Commission in 2008, upon vacation of the 
Red Lion Street property under Section 37 of the 1954 Landlord & Tenants Act.

Note 12 - Gross cash flows

 2009  2008 
 £000  £000 

Reconciliation of operating deficit to net operating cash flows

Operating deficit (124,572)  (116,193)

Depreciation charges and loss on disposal 3,709  2,944 

Decrease in debtors 789  526 

Increase/(decrease) in creditors 6,353  (1,814)

Decrease in provisions (823)  (214)

Other finance charges and pension payments 58  (14,494)

Net cash outflow from operating activities (114,486)  (129,245)

Non operating income

Receipt on termination of lease on property (note 11)   -  1,920 

Returns on investment and servicing of finance

Interest received 1,036  1,649 

Interest paid (886)  (1,427)

150  222 

Capital expenditure

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (note 4) (8,146)  (5,429)
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Note 13 - Analysis of changes in net funds

 At 1 April 2008  Cash flows 
 At 31 March 

2009 
 £000  £000  £000 

Cash at bank and in hand 5,997 6,058 12,055

Note 14 - Debtors

 2009  2008 
 £000  £000 

Amounts falling due within one year

Other debtors 341  201 

Amounts due from CLS Fund and CDS 719  538 

Prepayments and accrued income 2,088  3,198 

3,148  3,937 

 
Amounts due from central government bodies

Other central government bodies 719  538 

Bodies external to government 2,429  3,399 

3,148 3,937

Note 15 - Creditors

 2009  2008 
 £000  £000 

Amounts falling due within one year

Other creditors 90  136 

Amounts due to HMCS on the service level agreement - Crime Higher 2,184  176 

Amounts due to HMCS on the service level agreement - Transfer of Grant 2,559  - 

Other taxation and social security costs 1,450  1,374 

Accruals and deferred income 8,474  6,249 

14,757 7,935

 
Amounts due to central government bodies

Other central government bodies 4,743  176 

Bodies external to government 10,014  7,759 

14,757 7,935
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Note 16 - Income and expenditure reserve

Income and expenditure reserve 
 £000 

Balance as at 1 April 2008 7,351

Deficit for the financial year (124,420)

Actuarial loss recognised (3,534)

Grant-in-aid - capital 8,615

Grant-in-aid - revenue 119,925

Balance as at 31 March 2009 7,937

Note 17 - Going concern

The balance sheet at 31 March 2009 shows an excess of assets over liabilities of £7.94m.

The Chief Executive knows of no review of the Commission’s operations, other than that disclosed in note 24, or 
intention to suspend its activities or merge it with other bodies. It has accordingly been considered appropriate to adopt 
a going concern basis for the preparation of these financial statements.

Note 18 - Capital commitments

There are commitments for capital expenditure of £69,439 (2008: £837,079) for which no provision has been made in 
these accounts.

Note 19 - Commitments under operating leases

Land and 
buildings

 2009 
Other
 2009 

 Total 
 2009 

Land and 
buildings

 2008 
Other
 2008 

 Total 
 2008 

£000 £000  £000 £000 £000  £000 

Annual commitments under operating leases expiring:

Within one year 219 310 529 900 344 1,244

Between two and five years 502 27 529 414 67 481

Over five years 4,842  - 4,842 2,702  - 2,702

5,563 337 5,900 4,016 411 4,427
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Note 20 - Provision for liabilities and charges

 Restructuring  Dilapidations  Total 
£000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2008 741 3,282 4,023

Additions and increases to provision 80 2,118 2,198

Amounts used in the period (353) (1,960) (2,313)

Unused amounts reversed in the period (388) (320) (708)

Finance charges (note 10)   - (176) (176)

At 31 March 2009 80 2,944 3,024

Provision is made for estimated dilapidation costs on 
leasehold buildings. The provision has been estimated with 
reference to the condition and location of the buildings and 
discounted at 2.2% (2008: 2.2%). The costs are expected 
to be incurred between 2009 and 2019 as the leases expire. 
A dilapidation provision on vacated buildings is maintained 
until dilapidation negotiations have been finalised.

The restructuring provision relates to additional costs 
expected to be incurred as a result of the restructuring 
programme being undertaken by the Legal Services 
Commission.

Note 21 - Contingent liability

The Commission is currently in discussions with HM 
Revenue and Customs in order to determine whether any 
corporation tax liability results from its activities. Whether 
there is a liability and how this should be calculated will 
depend on the outcome of these discussions. 

Note 22 - Related party transactions 

The Legal Services Commission is a non-departmental 
public body sponsored by the Ministry of Justice. The 
Ministry of Justice is regarded as a related party. During 
the year the Legal Services Commission had various 
material transactions with the Ministry of Justice. The 
Commission has also had various material transactions 
with Her Majesty’s Courts Service, an agency of the 
Ministry of Justice, relating to work provided by the 
Courts Service on behalf of the Commission.

During 2009 the Legal Services Commission entered into 
material transactions with the related party detailed 
below.

In March 2009, payments of £680,965 were made to 
CMS Cameron McKenna LLP, a law firm, in respect of a 
commercial property matter. This firm was acting for the 
landlords of the commercial property and not for the 
Legal Services Commission. Andrew Regan was a trainee 
solictor at the firm until February 2009 and is the brother 
of Carolyn Regan, the Chief Executive of the Legal 
Services Commission.

Note 23 - Financial instruments

The Commission’s asset and liabilities have been 
accounted for at historical cost which due to to the nature 
of these assets is not materially different from fair value. 
Provisions have been discounted at a rate of 2.2%. The 
carrying value of provisions is equal to the fair value.

Financial risk identification and management

The Commission’s financial risk management process seeks 
to enable the early identification, evaluation and effective 
management of key risks facing the Commission. Systems 
have been established to review and reflect changes in the 
legal aid market and the Commission’s activities. 

The Commission is exposed to the following financial risks 
from its use of financial instruments: 
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Note 23 - Financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Commission is financed by a grant received from the 
Ministry of Justice. As such it is not exposed to significant 
liquidity risks.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that counterparties to financial 
instruments do not perform according to the terms of the 
contract or instrument. The commission is exposed to 
credit risk from certain financing activities.

The immediate credit exposure of financial instruments is 
represented by those instruments that have a net positive 
fair value by counterparty at 31 March 09. The Commission 
considers its maximum exposure to credit risk to be:

2009 2008
 £000  £000 

Cash at bank  12,055  5,997 

Debtors  3,148  3,937 

 15,203  9,934

Cash balances are with strong investment grade banks or 
financial institutions.

Though the Commission has seen no direct evidence of 
changes to the credit risk of its counterparties the current 
economic condition has increased financial volatility.

The Commission uses market knowledge and changes in 
credit ratings to identify significant changes to the 
financial profile of its counterparties.

Interest rate risk

The Commission’s bank balances carry floating interest 
rates, and the interest is paid over directly to the Ministry 
of Justice. All of the Commission’s liabilities carry nil or 
fixed rates of interest and as such are not exposed to 
significant interest rate risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Commission presents its accounts in sterling. The 
Commission procures legal aid in England and Wales. 
Foreign currency would not usually form part of the 
Commission’s assets or liabilities and the Commission is 
not exposed to any significant foreign currency risks.

Note 24 - Accountability notes

Losses 

There were no known incidences of cash reported stolen 
in the year (2008: Nil).

One item of equipment totalling £800 was reported 
stolen in the year (2008: four items of equipment 
totalling £2,980).

There were no known incidents of fraud in the year  
(2008: Nil). 

Special payments

Ex gratia payments are amounts paid to individuals 
claiming that mistakes were made by the Commission in 
dealing with their cases.

During the year there were 70 (2008: 100) ex gratia 
payments totalling £35,306 (2008: £94,844).

The Commission made no other special payments during 
the year (2008: 2 payments totalling £325,000). No 
single payment was above £250,000.

The Commission was ordered to pay costs of £98,158 in 
relation to a Judicial Review.

Note 25 - Post balance sheet events 

In accordance with the requirements of FRS 21, post 
balance sheet events are considered up to the date on 
which accounts are authorised for issue, which is 
interpreted as the date of the Certificate and Report of 
the Comptroller & Auditor General. 

There are no post balance sheet events to report.

On the 13 October 2009 the Ministry of Justice 
announced a review into the delivery of legal aid.
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Note 25 - Post balance sheet events 
(continued)

The review is to ensure that the money spent on legal aid 
every year is delivering best value for money, providing a 
healthy and sustainable future for social welfare law and 
effectively integrating the criminal defence service with 
the criminal justice system.

To conduct the review, the government has invited Sir Ian 
Magee to assess the delivery and governance 
arrangements of the legal aid system. Sir Ian Magee will 
report back to government in January 2010.
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